ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE COMMERCIAL LIST

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF TARGET CANADA CO., TARGET CANADA HEALTH CO., TARGET CANADA MOBILE GP CO., TARGET CANADA PHARMACY (BC) CORP., TARGET CANADA PHARMACY (ONTARIO) CORP., TARGET CANADA PHARMACY CORP., TARGET CANADA PHARMACY (SK) CORP., AND TARGET CANADA PHARMACY (SK) CORP., AND TARGET CANADA PROPERTY LLC

TWENTY-SEVENTH REPORT OF THE MONITOR ALVAREZ & MARSAL CANADA INC.

MAY 11, 2016

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0	INTRODUCTION	L
2.0	TERMS OF REFERENCE AND DISCLAIMER	2
3.0	OVERVIEW OF THE AMENDED AND RESTATED JOINT PLAN OF COMPROMISE AND ARRANGEMENT	3
4.0	MONITOR'S COMMENTARY ON CERTAIN ASPECTS OF THE AMENDED AND RESTATED JOINT PLAN OF COMPROMISE AND ARRANGEMENT AND RELATED MATTERS	8
5.0	CLAIMS PROCESS)
6.0	ILLUSTRATIVE RANGE OF ESTIMATED CREDITOR RECOVERIES42	2
7.0	MEETING ORDER AND CREDITORS' MEETING44	1
8.0	CASH FLOW RESULTS RELATIVE TO FORECAST)
9.0	MONITOR'S CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION	,

INDEX TO APPENDICES

- Appendix "A" List of the Applicants and Partnerships
- Appendix "B" Twenty-Sixth Report of the Monitor dated April 7, 2016
- Appendix "C" Letter from the Court-appointed Members of the Consultative Committee

1.0 INTRODUCTION

- 1.1 On January 15, 2015, Target Canada Co. ("TCC") and those companies listed in Appendix "A" (collectively, the "Applicants"), together with the Partnerships also listed in Appendix "A" (the "Partnerships", and collectively with the Applicants, the "Target Canada Entities"), applied for and were granted protection by the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) (the "Court") under the *Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended (the "CCAA"). Pursuant to an Order of this Court dated January 15, 2015, Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc. ("A&M") was appointed Monitor of the Target Canada Entities in the CCAA proceedings (the "Monitor"). The proceedings commenced by the Applicants under the CCAA are referred to herein as the "CCAA Proceedings".
- 1.2 On February 11, 2015, this Court issued the "Amended and Restated Initial Order" (hereinafter, unless the context otherwise requires, the "Initial Order"), which incorporates certain changes to the Initial Order granted January 15, 2015 that were described in the Second Report of the Monitor dated February 9, 2015.
- 1.3 In connection with the CCAA Proceedings, the Monitor has provided to this Court twenty-six reports and two supplementary reports (the "Supplementary Reports", and collectively, the "Monitor's Reports"). A&M has also provided to this Court the Pre-Filing Report of the Proposed Monitor (the "Pre-Filing Report") dated January 14, 2015 (together with the Monitor's Reports, the "Prior Reports"). The Prior Reports, the Initial Order and other Court-filed documents and notices in these CCAA Proceedings are available on the Monitor's website at alvarezandmarsal.com/targetcanada.

- 1.4 The purpose of this Twenty-Seventh Report of the Monitor (the "Twenty-Seventh Report") is to provide this Court with:
 - (i) information regarding the following:
 - (a) the Amended and Restated Joint Plan of Compromise and Arrangement dated April 6, 2016 (the "Amended Plan" or "Plan");
 - (b) the Monitor's commentary on certain aspects of the Amended Plan;
 - (c) the Claims Process;
 - (d) an updated illustrative range of estimated creditor recoveries based on the Amended Plan;
 - (e) the Meeting Order and the Creditors' Meeting (each as defined below);
 - (f) the receipts and disbursements of the Target Canada Entities for the period April 3 to 30, 2016; and
 - (ii) the Monitor's conclusions and recommendation in connection with the foregoing.
- 1.5 This report is filed in connection with paragraph 12 of the Meeting Order, which provides that the Monitor will serve a report regarding the Plan on the Service List (and post it on the Monitor's website) by May 11, 2016, in advance of the Creditors' Meeting.

2.0 TERMS OF REFERENCE AND DISCLAIMER

2.1 In preparing this Twenty-Seventh Report, the Monitor has been provided with, and has relied upon, unaudited financial information, books and records and financial information

prepared by the Target Canada Entities and Target Corporation, and discussions with management of the Target Canada Entities and Target Corporation (collectively, the "Information").

- 2.2 The Monitor has reviewed the Information for reasonableness, internal consistency and use in the context in which it was provided. However, the Monitor has not audited or otherwise attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of the Information in a manner that would wholly or partially comply with Canadian Auditing Standards ("CASs") pursuant to the *Chartered Professional Accountants Canada Handbook* and, accordingly, the Monitor expresses no opinion or other form of assurance contemplated under CASs in respect of the Information.
- 2.3 Unless otherwise indicated, capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Twenty-Seventh Report are as defined in the Prior Reports, the Amended Plan and the Initial Order.
- 2.4 Unless otherwise stated, all monetary amounts contained in this Twenty-Seventh Report are expressed in Canadian dollars.

3.0 OVERVIEW OF THE AMENDED AND RESTATED JOINT PLAN OF COMPROMISE AND ARRANGEMENT

3.1 As described in detail in the Twenty-Sixth Report (attached hereto as Appendix "B"):
(i) all of the Landlord Guarantee Creditors and Target Corporation reached a comprehensive agreement (the "Landlord Guarantee Creditor Settlement Agreement", executed as of March 4, 2016), outside of the Plan, to resolve all Landlord

Guarantee Claims and contractually release Target Corporation and others from the Landlord Guarantee Claims; and (ii) all of the Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditors entered into individual consent and support agreements with TCC (collectively, the "Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Consent and Support Agreements", dated as of March 4, 2016), which consensually resolved the amounts of their Landlord Restructuring Period Claims and Pre-filing Claims, and pursuant to which they agreed to support and vote in favour of the Amended Plan. These landlord agreements are subject to certain conditions precedent as described in the Twenty-Sixth Report. Having achieved execution of these agreements by the deadline of March 4, 2016, the Applicants sought approval of the filing of the Amended Plan and the calling of a Creditors' Meeting.

- 3.2 On April 13, 2016, this Court issued an order (the "**Meeting Order**"), which, among other things:
 - (i) accepted the filing of the Amended Plan;
 - (ii) authorized the Target Canada Entities to establish one class of Affected Creditors for purposes of considering and voting on the Amended Plan (the "Unsecured Creditors' Class");
 - (iii) authorized the Target Canada Entities to call, hold and conduct a meeting of the Affected Creditors (the "Creditors' Meeting") to consider and vote on a resolution to approve the Amended Plan, and approved the procedures to be followed with respect to the Creditors' Meeting; and

- (iv) set the date for the hearing of the Target Canada Entities' motion seeking sanction of the Amended Plan should the Plan be approved by the Required Majority of Affected Creditors at the Creditors' Meeting.¹
- 3.3 The Creditors' Meeting will be held on May 25, 2016 at the Toronto Board of Trade, 77 Adelaide Street West, Toronto, Ontario, starting at 10:00 a.m., subject to adjournment or modification in accordance with the terms of the Meeting Order or further order of this Court. The Creditors' Meeting will be chaired by the Monitor or its representative.
- 3.4 In the event that the Amended Plan is approved by the Required Majority of Affected Creditors at the Creditors' Meeting, the Target Canada Entities have scheduled June 2, 2016 as the date for the Court to hear the motion seeking the Sanction and Vesting Order in respect of the Plan (the "Sanction Motion"), which date may be extended by the Target Canada Entities with the consent of the Plan Sponsor and the Monitor.
- 3.5 A copy of the Amended Plan was included in the Meeting Materials sent on April 19, 2016, in accordance with the Meeting Order, to each Affected Creditor to the address for such Affected Creditor set out in such Affected Creditor's Proof of Claim or to such other address subsequently provided to the Monitor by the Affected Creditor. A copy of the Amended Plan is also available on the Monitor's website.
- 3.6 Capitalized terms utilized in this section of the Twenty-Seventh Report not otherwise defined herein have the meaning given to them in the Amended Plan. Readers are

¹ In accordance with the CCAA, "**Required Majority**" means a majority in number of Affected Creditors who represent at least two-thirds in value of the Voting Claims of such Affected Creditors who actually vote on the Amended Plan (in person or by Proxy) at the Creditors' Meeting or who were deemed to vote on the Plan in accordance with the Plan and the Meeting Order.

cautioned that the commentary below is an overview only, and, as such, interested parties should review the Amended Plan in its entirety. Key elements of the Amended Plan are described below.

Overview of the Amended Plan

3.7 Target Corporation will act as Plan Sponsor and provide support through, among other things: (i) permitting the subordination of certain Intercompany Claims,² including the Propco Intercompany Claim which was filed pursuant to the Claims Procedure Order against TCC in an amount of \$1,911,494,242 (and proposed to be adjusted downwards by the Monitor in the Intercompany Claims Report to an amount of \$1,356,756,051); and (ii) the contribution of approximately: (a) \$25.5 million towards the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Amount;³ (b) \$34.1 million towards the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Amount;³ (b) \$34.1 million towards the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Amount by contributing back amounts that it otherwise would have recovered on certain Intercompany Claims under the Amended Plan;⁴ (c) \$7.5 million towards the Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Equalization Amount; and (d) \$700,000 towards the costs of certain Landlord Guarantee Creditors, including the settlement of costs arising out of the Original Meeting Order Motion.

² Such subordination being in addition to the approximately \$3.1 billion NE1 Intercompany Claim against TCC that Target Corporation had previously agreed to subordinate in these CCAA Proceedings.

³ The Plan Sponsor's contribution of approximately \$25.5 million towards the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Amount is intended to replace the aggregate Landlord Guarantee Creditor Top-Up Amounts proposed in the Original Plan. The Monitor previously valued the aggregate Landlord Guarantee Creditor Top-Up Amounts at approximately \$18 million to \$32 million, and \$25.5 million represents an approximate mid-point of that range.

⁴ Under the Original Plan, the amount of approximately \$34.1 million would have been funded into the TCC Cash Pool for the benefit of Affected Creditors. Under the Amended Plan, this amount is to be funded into the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Cash Pool for the benefit of the Landlord Guarantee Creditors.

- 3.8 The Amended Plan provides for a single class of Affected Creditors that will consider and vote on the Plan at the Creditors' Meeting.
- 3.9 The Amended Plan separates Claims according to whether they are asserted and proven against: (i) TCC or its subsidiaries (on a consolidated basis); or (ii) Propco or Property LP. After Claims against Propco and Property LP are paid or provided for in accordance with the Plan, any remaining cash at Propco will be contributed to the TCC Cash Pool Account for the benefit of Affected Creditors of the Target Canada Entities.
- 3.10 If approved, sanctioned and implemented, the Amended Plan is intended to:
 - (i) complete the controlled and orderly wind down of the Target Canada Entities in a timely manner, without potentially costly and lengthy litigation and delay;
 - (ii) effect a compromise, settlement and payment of all Proven Claims in the near term;
 - (iii) grant releases of the Target Canada Entities and others;
 - (iv) grant releases in favour of Target Corporation and the HBC Entities, except in respect of Landlord Guarantee Claims; and
 - (v) comply with paragraph 19A of the Initial Order, the Claims Procedure Order and the Court's January 15 Endorsement.
- 3.11 The Amended Plan contains a number of mechanics necessary to facilitate implementation of the Amended Plan, the main components of which are described in

detail in the sections that follow. However, for ease of reference, a high level overview of the net effect of the features and mechanics of the Amended Plan is provided below:

- (i) the aggregate amount of the Intercompany Claims payable to Target Corporation or its affiliates that are being fully subordinated or limited in recovery under the Amended Plan for the benefit of Affected Creditors is approximately \$4.6 billion;⁵
- (ii) certain other remaining Intercompany Claims in the aggregate amount of approximately \$1.6 billion are being largely subordinated to:
 - (a) facilitate the payment in full of third party claims against Propco and Property LP;⁶ or
 - (b) effect re-contributions of amounts otherwise payable to Target
 Corporation or its affiliates into cash pools for distribution to creditors of
 the other Target Canada Entities;⁷
- (iii) in addition to the claim of approximately \$23.4 million referred to above as thePlan Sponsor Propco Recovery Limit, the aggregate amount of the IntercompanyClaims that are not being subordinated and in respect of which Target Corporation

⁵ Intercompany Claims 1, 6A, 6B and 6C as listed on Schedule "A" to the Amended Plan are being fully subordinated and Claim 4A is limited in recovery to a maximum amount of \$23,427,369 (defined as the "**Plan Sponsor Propco Recovery Limit**" in the Amended Plan).

⁶ Intercompany Claim 5A is being subordinated in an amount equal to the amount of the Property LP Unaffected Claims, defined as the "**Contributed Claim Amount**" in the Amended Plan.

⁷ As part of the re-contributions, approximately \$34.1 million will be contributed to the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Cash Pool Account for the benefit of Landlord Guarantee Creditors, \$23,427,369 will be contributed to the Plan Sponsor Propco Recovery Limit Reserve Account and any balance will be contributed to the TCC Cash Pool Account for the benefit of Affected Creditors.

or its affiliates will receive distributions under the Amended Plan is approximately \$108.5 million;

- (iv) all proven third party claims filed against Propco and Property LP will be paid in full;
- (v) landlords with claims in respect of disclaimed leases guaranteed by Target Corporation will receive payments in accordance with the terms of their agreements with Target Corporation, which payments will be made through the Amended Plan with such landlords receiving 100% of their pre-filing and restructuring period claims from a TCC cash pool, and their enhancement amounts from another cash pool funded by contributions from the Plan Sponsor⁸;
- (vi) claims of \$25,000 or less (or those who elect down to a claim of \$25,000) will receive the lesser of: (a) 100% of their proven claim amount; and (b) \$25,000;
- (vii) the claims of Unaffected Creditors (such as claims of cash management lenders and secured construction lien claimants) are not compromised under the Amended Plan;
- (viii) all remaining proven third party claims, and Intercompany Claims not being subordinated, filed against any of the Target Canada Entities other than Propco and Property LP (including claims of landlords under disclaimed leases that are not guaranteed by Target Corporation) are consolidated and will receive

⁸ See paragraph 3.7.

distributions under the Amended Plan currently estimated at a range of approximately 71% to 80% of the amount of their proven claims;⁹

- (ix) all proven claims filed against the Target Canada Entities or their directors and officers will be fully and finally compromised, settled and released;
- (x) claims and actions against, and liabilities of:
 - (a) the Target Canada Entities and others; and
 - (b) Target Corporation, except in respect of claims by landlords under disclaimed leases guaranteed by Target Corporation (which are being released contractually as part of the landlord agreements),

will be fully and finally released; and

 (xi) the Amended Plan will complete the controlled and orderly wind down of the Target Canada Entities.

Intercompany Claims

- 3.12 Target Corporation has agreed to or facilitated the following as part of a consensual global resolution of the CCAA Proceedings:
 - (i) the prior subordination of the \$3.1 billion NE1 Intercompany Claim;

⁹ Please refer to the important qualifications set out in paragraph 6.1 below. Further, the estimated percentage recovery does not include landlord equalization amounts payable to Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditors, which amounts are funded by the Plan Sponsor.

- (ii) the re-contributions into the TCC Cash Pool described in paragraph 3.14(iii), below;
- (iii) the subordination of the Propco Intercompany Claim which was filed pursuant to the Claims Procedure Order against TCC in an amount of \$1,911,494,242 (and proposed to be adjusted downwards by the Monitor in the Intercompany Claims Report to an amount of \$1,356,756,051);¹⁰ and
- (iv) the subordination of other Intercompany Claims as set out in Schedule "A" to the Amended Plan.
- 3.13 As a result of the foregoing, only the following Intercompany Claims totalling \$108.5 million will remain as unsubordinated claims against TCC¹¹:
 - Property LP claim against TCC in the amount of \$82,861,821 (proposed to be adjusted downwards by the Monitor in the Intercompany Claims Report from the filed amount of \$87,748,817);
 - (ii) Target Brands Inc. claim against TCC in the amount of \$22,416,731
 (US\$18,787,069 converted to Canadian dollars; proposed to be adjusted downwards by the Monitor in the Intercompany Claims Report from the filed amount of US\$23,573,542);

¹⁰ The Monitor understands that for purposes of the Plan only, Target Corporation will accept all downward adjustments proposed by the Monitor.

¹¹ This is in addition to the Claim of approximately \$23.4 million referred to above as the Plan Sponsor Recovery Limit.

- (iii) Target Corporate Services Inc. claim against TCC in the amount of \$2,582,573 (US\$2,164,409 converted to Canadian dollars; proposed to be adjusted downwards by the Monitor in the Intercompany Claims Report from the filed amount of US\$2,778,278); and
- (iv) Target Corporation claim against TCC in the amount of \$602,349 (US\$504,818 converted to Canadian dollars; proposed to be adjusted downwards by the Monitor in the Intercompany Claims Report from the filed amount of US\$541,404).

Creditor Claims

3.14 Pursuant to the terms of the Amended Plan:

Claims Against Propco and Property LP

- (i) Propco Unaffected Creditors and Property LP Unaffected Creditors with Proven Claims against Propco and Property LP, respectively, will receive 100% of their Proven Claims from the Propco Cash Pool Account.¹² These payments are accomplished through the subordination of certain Intercompany Claims and the partial subordination of others.
- (ii) Payments from the Propco Cash Pool Account will then be made on a *pro rata* basis in partial satisfaction of the following Intercompany Claims (please refer to

¹² Property LP will receive an amount from Propco equal to the Contributed Claim Amount in partial satisfaction of the Property LP (Propco) Intercompany Claim, which amount will be used to fully fund the claims of Property LP Unaffected Creditors. The Property LP (Propco) Intercompany Claim is Intercompany Claim 5A filed by Property LP against Propco in an amount of \$1,449,577,927 and was not proposed to be adjusted by the Monitor in the Intercompany Claims Report.

Schedule "A" of the Amended Plan for a description of the Intercompany Claims):

- (a) to TCC, on account of the:
 - TCC (Pre-filing Propco) Intercompany Claim Intercompany Claim 7A filed by TCC against Propco in an amount of \$19,619,511 and proposed to be adjusted downwards by the Monitor in the Intercompany Claims Report to an amount of \$11,620,369; and
 - the TCC (Post-filing Propco) Intercompany Claim Intercompany
 Claim 7B filed by TCC against Propco in an amount of \$6,303,621
 and proposed to be adjusted upwards by the Monitor in the
 Intercompany Claims Report to an amount of \$6,966,363;
- (b) to the Plan Sponsor, on account of the Plan Sponsor (Propco) Intercompany Claim – Intercompany Claim 4A filed by Plan Sponsor against Propco in an amount of US\$89,079,107; and
- (c) to Property LP, on account of that amount, in excess of the Contributed Claim Amount, of the Property LP (Propco) Intercompany Claim – Intercompany Claim 5A filed by Property LP against Propco in an amount of \$1,449,577,927.
- (iii) On the Initial Distribution Date, the Plan Sponsor will re-contribute some of the funds described in the previous sub-paragraph that were paid in partial

satisfaction of the Intercompany Claims, according to the following steps (the "Plan Sponsor Contribution Waterfall"):

- (a) First, Property LP will direct TCC on behalf of Propco to pay to the Plan
 Sponsor any amounts payable to Property LP by Propco in respect of the
 Property LP (Propco) Intercompany Claim.
- (b) Second, the Plan Sponsor will direct TCC to deposit an amount of approximately \$34.1 million into the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Cash Pool Account on account of:
 - (1) the distributions otherwise payable to the Plan Sponsor in respect of the Plan Sponsor (Propco) Intercompany Claim; and
 - (2) amounts payable to the Plan Sponsor as directed by Property LP in respect of the Property LP (Propco) Intercompany Claim, as set out in step (a) above.
- (c) Third, the Plan Sponsor will direct TCC to deposit any remaining balance of the distribution in respect of the Plan Sponsor (Propco) Intercompany Claim and the amount payable to the Plan Sponsor in respect of the Property LP (Propco) Intercompany Claim into the Plan Sponsor Propco Recovery Limit Reserve Account up to a maximum amount equal to the Plan Sponsor Propco Recovery Limit (*i.e.*, \$23,427,369) – any

undistributed balance of which will ultimately be contributed to the TCC Cash Pool in accordance with the Amended Plan.¹³

- (d) Fourth, TCC will deposit into the TCC Cash Pool: (1) all of the distributions that TCC received in respect of its Intercompany Claims against Propco; and (2) the remaining balance of any distributions that the Plan Sponsor received from Propco or at the direction of Property LP after completing the preceding steps in the Plan Sponsor Contribution Waterfall.
- (iv) All remaining cash in the Propco Cash Pool Account, subject to any funds transferred and held in the Propco Disputed Claims Reserve Account and the Plan Sponsor (Propco) Intercompany Claim Recovery Limit Account, will be transferred to the TCC Cash Pool Account.

The estimated net results of steps (i) to (iv), above (subject to the important qualifications noted in paragraph 6.1 below), are illustrated in the tables below.

	Illustrative Scenario #1 - LOW		Illustrative Scenario #2 - HIGH	
(\$ in 000's CAD)				
PROPCO				
ESTIMATED CASH AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION				
Propco Cash	\$	76,750	\$	76,750
PROCEEDS AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION		76,750		76,750
CLAIMS FILED AGAINST PROPCO/PROPERTY LP				
Total Third Party Claims Against Propco and Property LP		10,533		10,533
PropCo Intercompany Claims (recontributed into Landlord Guarantee Settlement Amount)		34,081		34,081
Estimated Payments under Plan Sponsor Propco Recovery Reserve Limit (See calculation below)		16,699		18,628
ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AVAILABLE FROM PROPCO FOR TCC AFTER DISTRIBUTIONS		15,437		13,509

¹³ Amounts will only be paid from the Plan Sponsor Recovery Limit Reserve Account to the Plan Sponsor in essentially the same proportion, and on the same dates, that TCC makes distributions to Affected Creditors that are not Convenience Class Creditors or Landlord Guarantee Creditors. The remaining amounts in the account will ultimately be deposited in the TCC Cash Pool Account as a contribution by the Plan Sponsor to TCC.

	Illustrative Scenario #1 -	Illustrative Scenario #2 -	
(\$ in 000's CAD)	LOW	HIGH	
Plan Sponsor Recovery Reserve Limit	23,427	23,427	
Estimated Recovery %	71.3%	79.5%	
Estimated Payments under Plan Sponsor Propco Recovery Reserve Limit	16,699	18,628	

Claims Against the Target Canada Entities other than Propco and Property LP

- (v) Unaffected Creditors (including creditors with: (i) Proven Claims secured by any of the CCAA Charges; (ii) Proven Claims enumerated in sections 5.1(2) and 19(2) of the CCAA; (iii) Cash Management Lender Claims; and (iv) proven TCC Secured Construction Lien Claims against a lease assigned in the Real Property Portfolio Sales Process) will not have their Claims compromised under the Plan.
- (vi) Convenience Class Creditors will receive the lesser of: (a) 100% of their Proven Claims; and (b) \$25,000. (As described below, Affected Creditors with Proven Claims in excess of \$25,000 can elect to be treated for all purposes as Convenience Class Creditors.)
- (vii) Landlord Guarantee Creditors will receive payments on the Initial Distribution Date from two cash pools: (i) the Landlord Guarantee Creditor Base Claim Cash Pool – for 100% of each Landlord Guarantee Creditor Base Claim Amount, being the agreed upon amount of each Landlord Guarantee Creditor's Landlord Restructuring Period Claim and Pre-filing Claim; and (ii) the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Cash Pool – for 100% of each Landlord Guarantee Creditor's Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Amount under the Landlord Guarantee Creditor Settlement Agreement. Total payments to be made to Landlord Guarantee Creditors from the Landlord Guarantee Creditor Base Claim Cash Pool and the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Cash Pool are anticipated to be

approximately \$140.8 million and \$59.5 million, respectively (\$200.3 million in aggregate).

- (viii) Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditors will receive payments from two cash pools: (i) the TCC Cash Pool on the Initial Distribution Date (and any subsequent Distribution Dates) for each Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor's Pro Rata Share of the remaining cash in the TCC Cash Pool Account, subject to any funds transferred and held in the Administrative Reserve Account and the TCC Disputed Claims Reserve Account; and (ii) the Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Equalization Cash Pool on the Initial Distribution Date for 100% of each Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor's Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Equalization Amount under the Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Consent and Support Agreements (funded by the Plan Sponsor).
- (ix) All other Affected Creditors with Proven Claims will receive their respective Pro Rata Share of the remaining cash in the TCC Cash Pool Account from time to time, subject to any funds transferred and held in the Administrative Reserve Account and the TCC Disputed Claims Reserve Account.

Plan Releases

- 3.15 The Plan provides for certain full and final releases in favour of:
 - the Target Canada Released Parties (which include the Target Canada Entities, NE1, and their respective Directors, Officers, employees, legal counsel, agents and advisors);

- (ii) the Third Party Released Parties (which include the Monitor, A&M and its affiliates¹⁴), their respective directors, officers, employees, legal counsel, agents and advisors, and Pharmacists' Representative Counsel and members of the Consultative Committee and their advisors);
- (iii) the Plan Sponsor Released Parties (which include Target Corporation, its subsidiaries other than the Target Canada Entities and NE1, the HBC Entities and their respective directors, officers, employees, legal counsel, agents and advisors), excluding in respect of Landlord Guarantee Claims; and
- (iv) the Employee Trust Released Parties (which include the Employee Trust Administrator and its respective directors and officers and the Employee Trust Trustee, Employee Representative Counsel, Employee Representatives and all of their respective counsel and advisors).

4.0 MONITOR'S COMMENTARY ON CERTAIN ASPECTS OF THE AMENDED AND RESTATED JOINT PLAN OF COMPROMISE AND ARRANGEMENT AND RELATED MATTERS

Substantive Consolidation

4.1 The Amended Plan is a joint plan as between TCC and Propco (Target Canada Property LLC) that treats TCC and its subsidiaries, Target Canada Health Co. ("Pharmacy GP"), Target Canada Pharmacy (BC) Corp., Target Canada Pharmacy (Ontario) Corp., Target Canada Pharmacy (Ontario) Corp., Target Canada Pharmacy (SK) Corp. (collectively, the

¹⁴ See paragraph 7.3 for an overview of certain administrative amendments to the Plan.

"**Pharmacy Corporations**") and Target Canada Mobile GP Co. ("**Mobile GP**"), as well as Target Canada Pharmacy Franchising LP and Target Canada Mobile LP (collectively, the "**Pharmacy/Mobile Partnerships**") on a consolidated basis.

- 4.2 Based on internal financial information for each of Pharmacy GP, the Pharmacy Corporations, the Pharmacy/Mobile Partnerships and Mobile GP (the "Ancillary Entities"), the assets and liabilities of these entities as at the CCAA filing date (i.e. pre-filing amounts outstanding) were *de minimis*.
- 4.3 The effect of treating TCC and the Ancillary Entities on a consolidated basis is to combine the net realizations generated from the Orderly Wind-down of TCC (i.e. the net realizations from the Inventory Sales Process and the Real Property Portfolio Sales Process) with the net realizations generated from the Ancillary Entities (which were insignificant), and similarly combine the Proven Claims against the Ancillary Entities with the Proven Claims against TCC.
- 4.4 A number of Claims were filed against TCC and multiple other Target Canada Entities. However, the following are the only Claims where the sole Target Canada Entity contracting counterparty was an Ancillary Entity, and not TCC:
 - (i) two service providers with aggregate filed Claims of approximately \$8.2 million(approximately \$2 million of which remains unresolved); and
 - (ii) the Pharmacist Franchisees, the majority of which filed Claims against Ancillary Entities and TCC, with aggregate filed Claims of approximately \$155.9 million.As set out in the Claims Process section below, the aggregate amount allowed by

the Monitor in respect of these claims is approximately \$18.7 million, comprised of 13 resolved Claims in the aggregate amount of approximately \$3.5 million and 80 unresolved Claims in an aggregate amount of approximately \$141.1 million (\$15.2 million was allowed by the Monitor in respect of these Claims, which remain under dispute, as described below).

4.5 The Amended Plan that Affected Creditors are voting on at the Creditors' Meeting has been filed on a consolidated basis, with distributions to Affected Creditors also to be determined on a consolidated basis and disbursed from a single TCC Cash Pool Account.¹⁵

Convenience Class Claims

4.6 The Amended Plan provides for payment in full of Convenience Class Claims, defined in the Plan as:

"Convenience Class Claim" excludes a Disputed Claim and means: (a) an Affected Creditor with one or more Proven Claims that are less than or equal to \$25,000 in the aggregate; and (b) an Affected Creditor with one or more Proven Claims in an amount in excess of \$25,000 in the aggregate that such Affected Creditor has validly elected to value at \$25,000 for purposes of the Plan by filing a Convenience Class Claim Election by the Election/Proxy Deadline.

4.7 Pursuant to the Amended Plan, Convenience Class Creditors will be deemed to have voted in favour of the Plan.

¹⁵ Landlords receive distributions from cash pool accounts other than the TCC Cash Pool Account as further described herein.

- 4.8 Based on the Claims as filed, and as incorporated in the Illustrative Recoveries Analysis included in section 6.0 of this Report, the Monitor estimates that: (a) approximately 577 Convenience Class Claims, aggregating approximately \$5.8 million have been/will be allowed by the Monitor; and (b) Affected Creditors with approximately 85 Proven Claims in excess of \$25,000, aggregating approximately \$2.1 million will file Convenience Class Elections to elect down into the Convenience Class to maximize their recoveries and minimize uncertainties with respect to the final recovery percentage, the impact of reserves required to address Unresolved Claims and related timing considerations with respect to distributions. As at May 6, 2016, the Monitor had received 28 Convenience Class Elections.
- 4.9 The Monitor estimates that in aggregate approximately 662 Claims, totalling \$7.9 million, will form the Convenience Class, and will represent approximately 39.6% in number and 1.2% in value of estimated Claims of Affected Creditors.

Input Tax Credits

- 4.10 The Amended Plan provides that, if the Plan Sponsor (or a subsidiary thereof other than the Target Canada Entities) has paid or pays GST/HST on amounts in respect of a Landlord Guarantee Claim for which only the Target Canada Entities will receive Input Tax Credits ("Plan Sponsor GST/HST Contribution Amounts"), then in order to reimburse the Plan Sponsor (or a subsidiary thereof other than the Target Canada Entities) for the Plan Sponsor GST/HST Contribution Amounts:
 - (i) the Plan Sponsor shall provide TCC and the Monitor with satisfactory evidence of the Plan Sponsor GST/HST Contribution Amounts;

- (ii) all Input Tax Credits (whether or not in respect of payments made by the Plan Sponsor or a subsidiary thereof other than the Target Canada Entities) actually paid to TCC shall be held by TCC in trust in a segregated interest-bearing account for the benefit of Plan Sponsor, and shall be paid to the Plan Sponsor from time to time, until such time as the Plan Sponsor has been fully reimbursed for all Plan Sponsor GST/HST Contribution Amounts; and
- (iii) once the Plan Sponsor GST/HST Contribution Amounts have been paid in full, subsequent Input Tax Credits actually paid to TCC shall be contributed by TCC to the TCC Cash Pool Account.
- 4.11 As described in the Supplemental Report to the Monitor's Twenty-Third Report, Target Corporation has made a settlement payment to RioCan of approximately \$132 million, net of applicable GST/HST. The Monitor estimates that the potential Input Tax Credits associated with this payment could be approximately \$17 million. In addition, subject to the Plan being approved by the Required Majority, the Court granting the Sanction and Vesting Order, and the Conditions Precedent to the Plan being met such that the Plan is implemented, pursuant to the Plan Sponsor Agreement, Target Corporation has agreed to pay approximately \$59.5 million (inclusive of GST/HST) to the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Cash Pool. The Monitor estimates that the potential Input Tax Credits associated with this payment could be approximately \$6.8 million. Therefore, the combined Input Tax Credits that could potentially be payable to the Plan Sponsor are

approximately \$23.8 million,¹⁶ however, to date, no such Input Tax Credits have been received by TCC from the Canada Revenue Agency ("**CRA**").

4.12 As described in certain of the Prior Reports, including the Twenty-Sixth Report of the Monitor, and as described in paragraph 5.18(i) below, the CRA has filed a number of "marker claims" for unliquidated or unknown amounts. The Target Canada Entities and their legal counsel and the Monitor and its legal counsel, and representatives of the CRA and the Department of Justice on behalf of the CRA, continue to work diligently and cooperatively (both with each other and with TCC's affiliates as part of the Shared Services) to obtain and provide the CRA with information to satisfy outstanding information requests. TCC's receipt of payment of the Input Tax Credits associated with the Plan Sponsor GST/HST Contribution Amounts described above is unclear at this time.

IP Assets

4.13 The Amended Plan provides that, in partial consideration for the contributions the Plan Sponsor is making in respect of the Amended Plan, the right, title and interest of the Target Canada Entities in IP Assets (i.e., certain domain names), will be transferred to and vest in the Plan Sponsor in accordance with the terms of the Amended Plan and the Sanction and Vesting Order. The Target Canada Entities have advised the Monitor that there are no IP Assets other than the domain names in respect of which the Target Canada Entities have a right, title or interest.

¹⁶ Subject to potential adjustment for the GST/HST component of any distributions paid to the Plan Sponsor on account of the RioCan Assigned Claims (defined below).

4.14 The Monitor has engaged a third party valuation firm in respect of the domain names, which third party has indicated the domain names have an approximate aggregate value of not greater than \$50,000.

Pharmacy Shares Transaction

- 4.15 As set out in the affidavit of Mark Wong sworn April 6, 2016 (the "Wong Affidavit April 6"), the Monitor, with the assistance of the Target Canada Entities, commenced a process (the "Pharmacy Sales Process") seeking to market and, ultimately, enter into a Pharmacy Share Sale Agreement to sell the shares of Target Canada Pharmacy (Ontario) Corp. (the "Pharmacy Shares").
- 4.16 In accordance with the Pharmacy Sales Process (attached as Exhibit "H" to the Wong Affidavit April 6), the Monitor received a number of bids in respect of the Pharmacy Shares by the bid deadline of May 6, 2016. The Monitor is in the process of reviewing the bids received to determine the successful bidder. Pursuant to the Pharmacy Sales Process, a Pharmacy Share Sale Agreement is to be executed by May 19, 2016, and an approval and vesting order is to be sought on June 2, 2016 (the date set for the Sanction Motion).

Income Tax Loss Carryforwards

4.17 Under the Amended Plan, prior to Plan completion and with the Target Canada Entities' and the Plan Sponsor's consent, steps shall be taken to dissolve any remaining Target Canada Entities in a tax efficient and orderly manner.

4.18 During the CCAA Proceedings, the Target Canada Entities have explored the interest of third parties in, and the feasibility of, any potential tax loss transactions. To date, no such transaction has materialized. The Monitor will provide an update to the Court if there is any change in this regard.

Conditions Precedent

- 4.19 The Amended Plan contains the following conditions precedent (which may be waived with the consent of the Plan Sponsor and the Monitor, acting reasonably):
 - (i) each of the Landlord Guarantee Creditors and the Plan Sponsor shall have executed and delivered the Landlord Guarantee Creditor Settlement Agreement and each of the Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditors and TCC shall have executed and delivered a Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Consent and Support Agreement(s), which agreements shall be in full force and effect;

Status: Condition satisfied as at the date hereof – agreements have been executed and delivered and remain in full force and effect as at the date of this report;

(ii) the Meeting Order shall have been granted by the Court on or before April 21,
 2016, or such later date as shall be acceptable to TCC in consultation with the Monitor, and shall have become a Final Order;

Status: Condition satisfied – Meeting Order granted on April 13, 2016, which has become a Final Order;

 (iii) the Creditors' Meeting to consider and vote on the Plan shall have been convened by the date set by the Meeting Order or such later date and shall be acceptable to TCC in consultation with the Monitor;

Status: Creditors' Meeting to be held on May 25, 2016;

(iv) the Target Canada Entities shall have satisfied their respective Post-Filing Trade
 Payables in the ordinary course or provision shall have been made in respect
 thereof in the Administrative Reserve to the satisfaction of the Monitor;

Status: Target Canada Entities have been paying their Post-Filing Trade Payables in the ordinary course and the Administrative Reserve will be established to the satisfaction of the Monitor;

(v) all material consents, declarations, rulings, certificates or approvals of or by any
 Governmental Authority as may be considered necessary by the Target Canada
 Entities, the Plan Sponsor and the Monitor in respect of the Plan Transaction
 Steps shall have been obtained;

Status: The Target Canada Entities have advised that they expect this condition precedent will be satisfied or waived to allow the Plan to be implemented within the timeline contemplated;

(vi) the Plan shall have been approved by the Required Majority of the Affected Creditors forming the Unsecured Creditors' Class at the Creditors' Meeting;

Status: Creditors' Meeting to be held on May 25, 2016;

(vii) the Sanction and Vesting Order shall have been granted by the Court by June 6, 2016, or such later date as shall be acceptable to TCC, in consultation with the Monitor, in form satisfactory to the Target Canada Entities, the Plan Sponsor and the Monitor, and shall have become a Final Order;

Status: Sanction Motion has been scheduled for June 2, 2016;

(viii) the Plan Implementation Date shall have occurred by the date that is seven (7) days from the date on which the Sanction and Vesting Order becomes a Final Order, which in no event shall be later than July 29, 2016.

Status: Assuming all other Conditions Precedent are satisfied, the Target Canada Entities currently anticipate a Plan Implementation Date on or about June 28, 2016.

Review for Potential Preferences and Transfers at Undervalue

4.20 Section 36.1 of the CCAA provides that Sections 95 to 101 of the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act* (the "**BIA**") apply to proceedings under the CCAA. Pursuant to these sections, a court may, on application by the Monitor under the CCAA, declare preference transactions¹⁷ and transfers at undervalue¹⁸ (collectively, a "**Preference Transaction**") to

¹⁷ A "preference" is defined to include a transfer of property, a provision of services made, a charge on property made, a payment made, an obligation incurred or a judicial proceeding taken or suffered by an insolvent person in favour of a creditor: (i) who is dealing at arm's length with the insolvent, with a view to giving a preference over another creditor, and is made, incurred, taken or suffered during the 3-month period immediately preceding the date of the filing; and (ii) who is not dealing at arm's length with the insolvent, which has the effect of giving that creditor a preference over another creditor, and is made, incurred, taken or suffered during the 12-month period immediately preceding the date of the filing.

¹⁸ A "transfer at undervalue" is defined to include a disposition of property or provision of services for which no consideration is received by the debtor or for which the consideration received is conspicuously less than its fair market value if: (i) the party was dealing at arm's length with the debtor and the transfer occurred during the 12-month period immediately preceding the date of the filing, the debtor was insolvent at the time of the transfer or

be void as against the Monitor or, in the case of transfers at undervalue, order any party to (or privy to) the transfer to pay the difference in value between the consideration received by the debtor and the value given by the debtor.¹⁹

- 4.21 In order to conduct a review for potential Preference Transactions, the Monitor:
 - selected and reviewed sample transactions with arm's-length parties for the threemonth period immediately preceding the commencement of the CCAA Proceedings (October 16, 2014 to January 15, 2015, the "Three-Month Period"); and
 - (ii) with the assistance of the Monitor's legal counsel, reviewed the transactions underlying the Intercompany Claims (as defined in the Claims Procedure Order, and each an "Intercompany Transaction") reported on in the Monitor's Intercompany Claims Report, for the 12-month period immediately preceding the commencement of the CCAA Proceedings (January 16, 2014 to January 15, 2015, the "Twelve-Month Period").
- 4.22 With respect to sample transactions with arm's-length parties for the Three-Month Period, the Monitor reviewed approximately 190 disbursements involving approximately

rendered insolvent by it, and the debtor intended to defraud, defeat or delay a creditor; and (ii) the party was not dealing at arm's length with the debtor and the transfer occurred during the 12-month period immediately preceding the date of the filing, or the transfer occurred within the five-year period immediately preceding the date of the filing if the debtor was insolvent at the time of the transfer or rendered insolvent by it or the debtor intended to defraud, defeat or delay a creditor.

¹⁹ As set out in the Wong Affidavit – Initial Order, when the board of directors of Target Corporation determined to discontinue operations in Canada, operational funding (which was exclusively provided by Target Corporation and related entities) ceased and the Target Canada Entities were, as at that date, unable to meet their liabilities as they became due and were therefore insolvent. Accordingly, the date of the commencement of the CCAA Proceedings was considered for the purposes of the preference review as the date of insolvency.

1,100 transactions, and did not identify any transactions that would constitute a Preference Transaction.

4.23 With respect to Intercompany Transactions for the Twelve-Month Period, the Monitor reviewed the Intercompany Transactions underlying the Intercompany Claims reported on in the Monitor's Intercompany Claims Report, and did not identify any transactions that would constitute a Preference Transaction, after taking into account downward adjustments to certain Intercompany Claims in the Monitor's Intercompany Claims Report and the subordination of certain Intercompany Claims in the Amended Plan.

Bankruptcy Analysis

- 4.24 Pursuant to section 23(1)(i) of the CCAA, the Monitor is to advise the Court on the reasonableness and fairness of any compromise or arrangement that is proposed between the Target Canada Entities and their creditors. In considering the fairness and reasonableness of the Amended Plan, the Monitor considered a comparison of the treatment of Affected Creditors' claims under the Plan against the treatment of those claims under the alternative to the Plan, which, in the circumstances, would be bankruptcy proceedings under the BIA.
- 4.25 Based on a bankruptcy analysis performed by the Monitor to assess the potential outcome under BIA bankruptcy proceedings (the "**Bankruptcy Analysis**"),²⁰ the Monitor

²⁰ Subject to certain assumptions and qualifications, including:

a) In the circumstances of this case (i.e. where leases were previously disclaimed in the CCAA Proceedings, and not by a trustee in bankruptcy proceedings) there are a number of different potential interpretations as to what could constitute a valid landlord claim in a bankruptcy proceeding. For purposes of the analysis, landlord claim amounts were included at the same amounts agreed to in the Landlord Guarantee Creditor Settlement Agreement and the Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Consent and Support Agreements.

estimates that distributions to Affected Creditors at TCC would be approximately 30% in bankruptcy proceedings under the BIA, as compared to 71% to 80% under the Amended Plan (based on the Illustrative Recoveries Analysis included in section 6.0 of this report, and subject to the important qualifications noted in paragraph 6.1 below). The primary reason for the reduced recoveries in a bankruptcy scenario is the inclusion of approximately \$1.4 billion of Intercompany Claims filed against TCC, which the Monitor has been informed by Target Corporation would not be subordinated in a bankruptcy. As such, the Monitor estimates that distributions to Affected Creditors with Proven Claims under the Amended Plan will be significantly greater than in bankruptcy proceedings under the BIA.

5.0 CLAIMS PROCESS

- 5.1 On June 11, 2015, this Court issued the claims procedure order (as amended, the "Claims Procedure Order") approving the claims process (the "Claims Process") to identify and determine claims of creditors ("Claims") of the Target Canada Entities and their Directors and Officers. The Claims Procedure Order was summarized in the Fifteenth Report of the Monitor, and an update on the completion of the notification requirements of the Claims Procedure Order was provided in the Eighteenth Report.
- 5.2 As described in certain of the Prior Reports, including the Twenty-Sixth Report, the Claims Procedure Order provided for the following Claims bar dates:

b) Intercompany Claims included in the analysis represent the recalculated Intercompany Claim amount provided in the Monitor's Intercompany Claims Report. It is noted that Target Corporation has agreed to the downward adjustments proposed by the Monitor in the Intercompany Claims Report for purposes of the Amended Plan only and could challenge those adjustments in a bankruptcy proceeding.

- (i) Intercompany Claims July 31, 2015 (the "Intercompany Claims Bar Date");
- (ii) Pre-filing Claims August 31, 2015 (the "Claims Bar Date");
- (iii) D&O Claims August 31, 2015; and
- (iv) Restructuring Period Claims the later of: (i) 45 days after the date on which the Monitor sends a Claims Package with respect to a Restructuring Period Claim; and (ii) the Claims Bar Date.

Intercompany Claims

- 5.3 As required by the Claims Procedure Order, the Monitor provided a comprehensive report on its review of the Intercompany Claims in the Twentieth Report of the Monitor dated August 31, 2015.
- 5.4 Paragraph 37 of the Claims Procedure Order provided that after the service of the Monitor's Intercompany Claims Report, any Claimant may file objections, which may include, but are not limited to, any argument asserted for the subordination of outstanding intercompany debts of any of the Target Canada Entities, any relief in connection with claims to priority, any claim asserted for substantive consolidation, and the validity and quantum of Intercompany Claims and any claim relating to debt re-characterization, by filing a Notice of Objection with the Monitor, not later than the Notice of Objection Bar Date of September 30, 2015.
- 5.5 The Notice of Objection Bar Date has been extended several times, with the last of such extensions occurring at the hearing on April 13, 2016, where the Court issued an order

extending the Notice of Objection Bar Date to 28 days following June 6, 2016, or such other date as the Court may order.

Assigned/Subrogated Claims

- 5.6 In accordance with paragraph 36 of the Claims Procedure Order, on October 31, 2015, the Monitor provided to the Service List a list of all Claims other than Intercompany Claims filed as at that date by any of the Target Canada Entities or Target Corporation or any of their respective affiliates arising through subrogation or assignment (the "October 31 Assigned/Subrogated Claims").
- 5.7 As at May 6, 2016, the amount allowed in respect of the October 31 Assigned/Subrogated Claims is approximately \$64.8 million.²¹ Of this amount, approximately \$59.1 million constitutes Cash Management Lender Claims held by Target Corporation by way of subrogation, which are Unaffected Claims under the Amended Plan in accordance with paragraph 6 of the Initial Order.
- 5.8 On March 2, 2016, Target Corporation provided notice to the Monitor that, in connection with the RioCan Settlement, it took assignment of the Claims in respect of the RioCan Guaranteed Disclaimed Leases (the "RioCan Assigned Claims"). Target Corporation is not voting on the Amended Plan with respect to the RioCan Assigned Claims.

²¹ This includes additional amounts paid by Target Corporation following October 31, 2015 in respect of obligations of TCC.

Landlord Claims

- 5.9 The Monitor received 18 Notices of Dispute with respect to landlord claims relating to assigned leases by the February 29, 2016 deadline (posted to the Monitor's website and served on the Service List)²² and one Notice of Dispute from a third-party in respect of an indemnity that TCC provided in relation to a disclaimed lease.²³ On April 29, 2016, the Monitor provided Notices of Withdrawal of Disputes to landlords with respect to 12 Notices of Dispute received regarding assigned leases for execution by such landlords in connection with the Landlord Guarantee Creditor Settlement Agreement and related documents.
- 5.10 The Monitor will provide an update as executed Notices of Withdrawal are received from such landlords. The Monitor continues to review and assess the remaining Notices of Dispute with respect to assigned leases and will provide updates to the Court as the Claims Process continues to advance.
- 5.11 In addition, on April 29, 2016, the Monitor issued Notices of Deemed Withdrawal of Dispute to landlords with respect to nine Notices of Dispute received regarding disclaimed leases (which Notices of Dispute were superseded by the terms of the landlord agreements).

²² See the Monitor's Twenty-Fifth Report.

²³ The deadline for filing a Notice of Dispute with respect to landlord claims relating to disclaimed leases has not been set; however, any such disputes would be superseded by the terms of the landlord agreements pursuant to which the landlords have agreed to their respective Claim amount in respect of disclaimed leases for both voting and distribution purposes.

Status of Claims Review and Assessment

- 5.12 As at May 6, 2016, 1,757 Claims have been filed with the Monitor, totalling approximately \$2.6 billion (excluding Intercompany Claims). As summarized in the tables below:
 - (i) 1,604 Claims have been reviewed, reconciled, resolved and allowed (or deemed allowed or disallowed as the time for a Claimant to respond to a Notice of Revision or Disallowance ("NRDA") issued by the Monitor has expired) (collectively, the "Resolved Claims"); and
 - (ii) 153 Claims are either:
 - (a) under review by the Monitor eight Claims (all of which were filed after the Claims Bar Date);
 - (b) subject to an NRDA that the Claimant has not responded to and the time for responding has not yet expired (the "NRDA Stage") – two personal injury litigation Claims; or
 - (c) subject to a Notice of Dispute ("NOD") received by the Monitor from the Claimant in response to an NRDA issued by the Monitor, which NOD is under review by the Monitor or remains unresolved (the "NOD Stage") 143 Claims, including 19 NODs with respect to landlord Claims (as described above) and 81 Pharmacist Franchisee Claims;²⁴

²⁴ As set out herein, Pharmacist Representative Counsel has filed the Omnibus Pharmacist NOD in respect of all pharmacists, however as part of the claims review process, the Monitor allowed the claims of two pharmacists as

(collectively, the "Unresolved Claims").

5.13 As at May 6, 2016, a summary of the Resolved Claims and Unresolved Claims is as

follows:

RESOLVED CLAIMS

		Fi	led Amount	Allowed Deemed Disallowed			lowed	Total			
					Filed	Allowed		Filed	Allowed		
Category		#	\$	#	\$	\$	#	\$	\$	#	\$
Landlord	(a)(b)	84	1,811,555,664	79	1,811,555,659	335,226,452	5	5	-	84	335,226,452
Vendor		1388	449,805,080	1363	446,031,083	352,555,428	25	3,773,997	-	1,388	352,555,428
Pharmacist		13	14,864,706	13	14,864,706	3,510,038	-	-	-	13	3,510,038
Government		4	5,111,357	3	5,111,356	5,087,288	1	1	-	4	5,087,288
Litigation		58	7,829,267	50	6,831,765	515,205	8	997,502	-	58	515,205
Employee		55	719,422	11	386,229	136,546	44	333,193	-	55	136,546
Other		2	2	-	-	-	2	2	-	2	-
Total		1604	2,289,885,498	1519	2,284,780,798	697,030,958 (c)	85	5,104,700	-	1,604	697,030,958

UNRESOLVED CLAIMS

	Fi	led Amount	Monitor Review		NRDA Stage			NOD Stage						
				Filed		Filed	Allowed		Filed	Allowed	NOD			
Category	#	\$	#	\$	#	\$	\$	#	\$	\$	\$			
Landlord (a)(b)	19	110,596,860	-	-	-	-	-	19	110,596,860	2,916	110,596,859			
Vendor	26	92,890,583	7	795,938	-	-	-	19	92,094,645	86,743,239	94,944,779			
Pharmacist	81	144,630,242	-	-	-	-	-	81	144,630,242	16,746,129	144,152,367	ł		
Government	9	2,863,376	-	-	-	-	-	9	2,863,376	184,897	2,858,994	(d)		
Litigation	7	997,566	1	100,000	2	537,564	5,000	4	360,002	10,000	241,179			
Employee	11	211,773	-	-	-	-	-	11	211,773	-	206,007	ł		
Other	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			
Total	153	352,190,399	8	895,938	2	537,564	5,000	143	350,756,898	103,687,180	353,000,185	(d)		
Grand Total	1757	2 642 075 897												

Notes:

(a) The Allowed amounts of Landlord Claims in the Resolved Claims table reflect the Claim amounts under the settlement agreements reached with Landlords.
(b) Two Landlord Claims, in respect of nine properties, have both an Allowed amount on account of seven disclaimed properties and a NOD amount on account of two assigned leases. Such Claims are considered to be in the NOD stage, however, for reporting purposes, the respective Claim Filed and Allowed amounts are reflected in the Resolved Claims table to provide a more appropriate view of the claims profile. The Claim count has not been adjusted.
(c) Allowed amounts does not take into account reduced amounts for claimants who have elected into the Convenience Class.

(d) Total NOD Amount is unknown as certain CRA Claims cannot yet be quantified as information is still pending at this time.

- 5.14 In addition to the Claims set out above, 26 Claims totalling approximately \$8.3 million were filed and subsequently withdrawn by the Claimants.
- 5.15 Pursuant to paragraphs 23 and 27 of the Claims Procedure Order, Claims not filed and received by the Monitor by the respective Claims Bar Dates, or such later date as the

filed and therefore did not issue an NRDA with respect to such claims and 11 pharmacist claims have been resolved through the opt-out process. The Opt-Out Notice deadline was March 25, 2016 (one Opt-Out Notice that was accepted was received that day past the 5:00 p.m. deadline).

Monitor may agree in writing or the Court may otherwise direct, will be forever barred, estopped and extinguished. The Monitor has received a number of late-filed claims totalling approximately \$16.8 million, including three claims totalling \$8.0 million from Pharmacist Franchisees and one claim of \$1.9 million from a landlord with a Parent Guarantee. Following inquiries of the Claimants as to why the claims were filed late, and after satisfying itself that there was: (i) a *prima facie* basis for such Claims; and (ii) a valid reason for late filing, the Monitor admitted these Claims into the Claims Process for review and assessment.

5.16 In accordance with the discretion provided to the Monitor in the Claims Procedure Order, the Monitor will no longer be accepting late-filed claims after the date of the Creditors' Meeting.

Unresolved Claims

5.17 The Monitor is in the process of assessing and resolving Notices of Dispute that have been filed with the Monitor. As described in paragraph 7.13 below, the Meeting Order sets out the process for voting Disputed Claims (the vote shall be in the amount set out in the Notice of Revision or Disallowance issued by the Monitor in respect of such Disputed Claim). With respect to distributions, the Plan provides that no distributions will be made with respect to all or any portion of a Disputed Claim unless and only to the extent that such Disputed Claim has become a Proven Claim.²⁵

²⁵ This also applies to disputed Claims against Propco or Property LP and disputed TCC Secured Construction Lien Claims, which will not receive any distributions unless and until such claims become a Propco Unaffected Claim or an Unaffected Claim, as the case may be.

- 5.18 As at the date of this report, 143 NODs have been received from Claimants, disputing a total of approximately \$353.0 million (plus "marker claims" that have been filed for unliquidated or unknown amounts, such as certain Claims filed by the CRA), as compared to the total amount of \$103.7 million allowed by the Monitor in the corresponding NRDAs. The significant NODs relate to:
 - (i) Government Claims: Information with respect to Government Claims was provided in certain of the Prior Reports, including the Twenty-Sixth Report. The Target Canada Entities and their legal counsel and the Monitor and its legal counsel, and representatives of the CRA and the Department of Justice Canada on behalf of the CRA, have been working diligently and cooperatively (both with each other and with TCC's affiliates as part of the Shared Services) to obtain and provide the CRA with information to satisfy outstanding information requests. As part of the information exchange and ongoing discussions with the CRA, the Monitor sought guidance from the CRA on the possible maximum amount of their marker claims given the anticipated timing of this Twenty-Seventh Report, the Creditors' Meeting and Sanction Motion, and to facilitate implementation of the Amended Plan, including initial distributions to Affected Creditors thereunder. On May 6, 2016, CRA sent letters to the Target Canada Entities: (a) providing a maximum amount of their marker claims, subject to CRA's assessment of the 2015 tax returns to be filed by the Target Canada Entities; and (b) indicating that certain additional information is to be provided to CRA to assist in CRA's assessment. The Monitor has been advised by counsel to the Target Canada Entities that it expects that the actual amount of CRA's Claims will be

significantly reduced from the maximum amounts CRA provided in its letters. The Target Canada Entities and their legal counsel and the Monitor and its legal counsel will continue to work with representatives of the CRA and the Department of Justice Canada on behalf of the CRA to resolve CRA's Claims. The Monitor will provide a supplemental report to this Twenty-Seventh Report on or before May 24, 2016 in order to provide an update on the status of the Government Claims and related CRA and tax considerations.

(ii) Pharmacist Claims: As described in certain of the Prior Reports, including the Twenty-Sixth Report, Pharmacist Franchisees filed 93 individual Proofs of Claim (including three claims filed subsequent to the Claims Bar Date),²⁶ and the Monitor issued individual NRDAs in respect of 91 of such Pharmacist Franchisee Claims.²⁷ Pharmacist Representative Counsel filed an Omnibus Pharmacist NOD in response to the individual NRDAs issued that, by its terms and the terms of the Pharmacist Order, applies to all Pharmacist Franchisee Claims, other than those that were accepted as filed or where an Opt-Out Notice has been filed. As described above, the Monitor received a total of 11 Opt-Out Notices (by those Pharmacist Franchisees who do not wish to be represented by the Pharmacist Representative Counsel). The difference between the aggregate allowed amounts in the NRDAs issued by the Monitor and the disputed amount in the Omnibus Pharmacist NOD is approximately \$125.9 million.

²⁶ The Monitor also received a Proof of Claim filed by McMahon Distributeur Pharmaceutique Inc., the owner/operator of 14 Target/Brunet co-branded pharmacies in the province of Quebec, which is not represented by Pharmacist Representative Counsel, and is not reflected in the Omnibus Pharmacist NOD.

²⁷ As indicated above, two of the Pharmacist Franchisee Claims were allowed as filed and no NRDAs were issued for these claims.

As described in the Twenty-Fifth Report, pursuant to the Pharmacist Order, the Omnibus Pharmacist NOD was referred to the Honourable Dennis O'Connor (the "Claims Officer") to determine the validity and amount of the Pharmacist Franchisee Claims under the Claims Procedure Order with direction to implement a summary process for the resolution of each disputed claim. Pharmacist Representative Counsel and the Monitor, in consultation with the Target Canada Entities, have been working on a list of common issues (the "Common Issues List"). On March 31, 2016, the Monitor reported to the Claims Officer that proposed common issues lists had been exchanged and that the parties continued to work to advance the Common Issues List and to discuss procedure.

On May 3, 2016, the Monitor and its counsel, counsel to the Target Canada Entities, a representative from the Pharmacy Franchisee Association of Canada and Pharmacist Representative Counsel met with the Claims Officer to finalize the terms of the Common Issues List and the timetable for hearing such issues. With the assistance of the Claims Officer, the parties determined the final Common Issues List and agreed to a timetable whereby threshold legal issues will be heard before the Claims Officer during the week of June 6, 2016 (the "June Hearing"). The parties have agreed that a Joint Brief of Documents will form the evidentiary basis for the June Hearing and are working to finalize the contents of such record. The parties and the Claims Officer have also reserved the week of August 1, 2016 in the event that additional attendances are required following the June Hearing.

- (iii) Vendor Claims: 19 Claimants have submitted NODs that remain unresolved, with a difference in aggregate claims value between the Monitor and the Claimants of approximately \$8.2 million.
- (iv) Employee Claims: 11 Claimants have submitted NODs that remain unresolved, including a NOD in respect of Employee Representative Counsel's omnibus claim for an unliquidated amount related to a short term incentive program ("STIP") (and two individual Claimants filed their own claims related to the STIP) which Claims will be referred to a claims officer for determination.
- (v) Landlord Claims: As described above, the Monitor received 18 NODs with respect to assigned leases prior to the February 29, 2016 deadline (in respect of which the Monitor provided 12 Notices of Withdrawal of Dispute for landlord execution) and one NOD filed by a third-party in respect of an indemnity TCC provided in relation to a disclaimed lease.
- 5.19 The Monitor, in consultation with the Target Canada Entities, is in the process of reviewing and assessing the NODs, including through further discussions or reconciliation with the Claimant and/or assessing whether any further Claims should be referred to a Claims Officer or the Court for adjudication, and will provide updates to the Court as the Claims Process continues to advance.

Withdrawal of Bowery Motion for Priority Declaration in respect of its Purchased Claims

5.20 Bowery Opportunity Fund, L.P. and Bowery Acquisition LLC (collectively, "**Bowery**") indicated that it would be filing a motion seeking relief limited to seven claims held by

them relating to goods supplied within 30 days preceding the commencement of the CCAA Proceedings.²⁸ In its Notice of Motion provided to the Monitor, Bowery sought declaratory relief in the form of a priority payment over all other Affected Creditors (the "**Bowery Motion**"). The Bowery Motion was scheduled to be heard by the Court on June 2, 2016.

5.21 On May 5, 2016, counsel to Bowery advised the Monitor that Bowery was discontinuing all aspects of the Bowery Motion and would not be filing any further material with the Court.

Director & Officer Claims

- 5.22 A summary of the D&O Claims received by the Monitor is provided below:
 - (i) eleven D&O Claims were filed totalling approximately \$567,000;
 - (ii) nine of the eleven D&O Claims were filed as "marker claims" for unspecified, unliquidated amounts; and
 - (iii) of the eleven D&O Claims filed, six were subsequently withdrawn by the Claimants.
- 5.23 The Monitor, in consultation with the Target Canada Entities and legal counsel to the Directors and Officers, reviewed the remaining five filed D&O Claims and issued NRDAs to each of the Claimants disallowing the claims in full.

²⁸ Bowery served its Notice of Motion on the Monitor but did not file it with the Court or otherwise serve it on the Service List.

- 5.24 With respect to the five Claims disallowed in full: (i) two claimants did not respond to the NRDA and the claims have been deemed disallowed pursuant to the Claims Procedure Order; (ii) one claimant responded with an NOD, but has subsequently withdrawn its claim; (iii) one claimant responded with an NOD in the amount of approximately \$180,000; and (iv) one claimant responded with an NOD filed as a "marker claim" for unspecified, unliquidated amounts.
- 5.25 The Monitor, in consultation with the Target Canada Entities and legal counsel to the Directors and Officers, continues to review and assess the two disputed D&O Claims and will provide updates to the Court as the Claims Process continues to advance.

6.0 ILLUSTRATIVE RANGE OF ESTIMATED CREDITOR RECOVERIES

6.1 The Monitor has prepared an updated illustrative range of estimated recoveries under the Amended Plan which is summarized in the table below and is based on information available as at May 6, 2016 (the "Illustrative Recoveries Analysis"). The Illustrative Recoveries Analysis has been prepared based on the terms of the Amended Plan and an estimate of the assessment of Claims filed. The Monitor cautions that the Illustrative Recoveries Analysis may change (which change could be material) as: (a) Unresolved Claims continue to be reviewed and assessed, including "marker claims" that have been filed for unliquidated or unknown amounts (such as certain claims filed by the CRA); and (b) the Claims Process continues to advance, including the resolution of Disputed Claims, in accordance with Claims Procedure Order.

		Illustrativ	e Scenario #1 -	Illustrativ	e Scenario #2 -
			LOW		HIGH
(\$ in 000's CAD) PROPCO					
ESTIMATED CASH AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION		ć	76 750	ć	76 750
Propco Cash PROCEEDS AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION		\$	76,750	\$	76,750
			, 0,, 30		10,100
CLAIMS FILED AGAINST PROPCO/PROPERTY LP			10,533		10,533
Total Third Party Claims Against Propco and Property LP PropCo Intercompany Claims (recontributed into Landlord Guarantee Settlement Amount below)			34,081		34,081
Estimated Payments under Plan Sponsor Propco Recovery Reserve Limit			16,699		18,628
ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AVAILABLE FOR TCC AFTER DISTRIBUTIONS			15,437		13,509
					,
TARGET CANADA CO					
ESTIMATED CASH AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION					
Target Canada Co. Cash			780,000		785,000
Propco Cash (from above) ESTIMATED PROCEEDS AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION			15,437 795,437		13,509
ESTIMATED PROCEEDS AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION			/95,437		798,509
ESTIMATED SECURED, UNAFFECTED AND CONVENIENCE CLASS CREDITORS					
Secured Claims and Unaffected Creditor Claims			60,006		60,006
Convenience Class Claims - < \$25,000			5,802		5,802
Convenience Class Opt-In - Claim Value < \$35,000 TOTAL ESTIMATED SECURED, UNAFFECTED AND CONVENIENCE CLASS CREDITOR CLAIMS			2,125 67,933		2,125
ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION AFTER SECURED, UNAFFECTED AND			727,504		730,576
CONVENIENCE CLASS CLAIMS					
LANDLORD GUARANTEE CREDITOR SETTLEMENT AMOUNTS					
Landlord Guarantee Creditor Base Claim Amounts (Pre-filing and Restructuring)			140,745		140,745
Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Amounts			59,532		59,532
Total Distribution to Landlord Guarantee Creditors			200,276		200,276
Less: Plan Sponsor Contribution to the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Cash Pool			(25,451)		(25,451
Plan Sponsor Contribution from the PropCo Intercompany Claims (from above)			(34,081)		(34,081
NET DISTRIBUTION TO LANDLORD GUARANTEE CREDITORS AFTER PLAN SPONSOR CONTRIBUTIONS			140,745		140,745
			,		
ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION AFTER SECURED, UNAFFECTED, CONVENIENCE CLASS AND LANDLORD GUARANTEE CREDITOR CLAIMS	(A)		586,760		589,831
ESTIMATED ALLOWABLE CLAIMS					
Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Claim Amounts (Pre-Filing, Restructuring and Other)			186,974		186,974
Other Affected Creditor Claims			527,744		446,372
Total Affected Creditor Claims			714,718		633,346
Total Intercompany Claims			108,464		108,464
ESTIMATED ALLOWABLE TOTAL CLAIMS EXCLUDING SECURED, UNAFFECTED, CONVENIENCE CLASS AND					
LANDLORD GUARANTEE CREDITOR CLAIMS	(B)		823,182		741,809
RECOVERY % (A/B)			71.3%		79.5%

6.2 Based on the above Illustrative Recoveries Analysis (and subject to the important qualifications noted in paragraph 6.1 above), the Monitor currently estimates that the Affected Creditors with Proven Claims will receive distributions under the Amended Plan in the range of approximately 71% to 80% of such Affected Creditors' Proven Claims.

7.0 MEETING ORDER AND CREDITORS' MEETING

Notice of Creditors' Meeting

- 7.1 In accordance with the Meeting Order:
 - (i) on April 14, 2016, the Monitor posted the Meeting Materials (being the Notice of Creditors' Meeting, form of Proxy, Convenience Class Claim Election, Resolution, Amended Plan, Meeting Order and Letter to Creditors) to the Monitor's website, and on April 15, 2016, the Monitor's legal counsel served a copy of the Meeting Materials on the Service List;
 - (ii) on April 19, 2016, the Monitor, through TCC's noticing agent, arranged for the Meeting Materials to be sent by first class mail to each Affected Creditor to the address for such Affected Creditor set out in such Affected Creditor's Proof of Claim or to such other address subsequently provided to the Monitor by the Affected Creditor; and
 - (iii) the Monitor arranged for the Notice of Creditors' Meeting to be published in: (a) *The Globe and Mail* (National Edition) and *The Wall Street Journal* on April 20 and 26, 2016; and (b) *La Presse* on April 23 and 30, 2016.
- 7.2 On behalf of the Consultative Committee, on April 27, 2016, TCC and the Monitor, through TCC's noticing agent, arranged for a letter from the members of the Courtappointed Consultative Committee to be sent by first class mail to each Affected Creditor, which provides the Consultative Committee's recommendation that Affected

Creditors vote in favour of the Amended Plan at the Creditors' Meeting. A copy of the letter is attached hereto as **Appendix "C"**.

Amendments to the Plan

- 7.3 The Meeting Order provides that the Target Canada Entities, with the consent of the Plan Sponsor and the Monitor, may make and file modifications, restatements, amendments or supplements to the Plan (each, a "Plan Modification") prior to or at the Creditors' Meeting prior to a vote being taken. Any such Plan Modification shall be deemed to form part of and be incorporated into the Plan. In accordance with this provision, certain amendments of an administrative nature were made to the Amended Plan to: (a) allow sufficient time between the Plan Implementation Date and the Initial Distribution Date to process and send distributions to Affected Creditors (from two Business Days, to five Business Days); (b) clarify that the definition of "A&M" includes all affiliates of Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc.; (c) clarify that there will be a separate Approval and Vesting Order for the IP Assets; and (d) clarify that the Administration Charge and the Directors' Charge will be released upon delivery of the Monitor's Plan Completion Certificate.
- 7.4 The Target Canada Entities may, with the consent of the Plan Sponsor and the Monitor, effect a Plan Modification after the Creditors' Meeting: (i) pursuant to an Order of the Court; or (ii) where such Plan Modification is of an administrative nature required to better give effect to the implementation of the Plan and the Sanction and Vesting Order or to cure any errors, omissions or ambiguities, and in either event is not materially adverse to the financial or economic interests of the Affected Creditors.

7.5 Where a Plan Modification is made prior to the Creditors' Meeting, the Target Canada Entities shall provide notice to the Service List. Where a Plan Modification is made prior to a vote at the Creditors' Meeting, the Target Canada Entities shall give notice to those Affected Creditors present in person or by Proxy. The Monitor shall post notice of a Plan Modification to the Monitor's website forthwith in all cases.

Procedure for Creditors' Meeting

- 7.6 The Meeting Order provides that a representative of the Monitor, to be designated by the Monitor, will serve as the chair of the Creditors' Meeting and, subject to any further Order of the Court, will decide all matters relating to the conduct of the Creditors' Meeting. The Monitor may appoint scrutineers for the supervision and tabulation of attendance at, quorum at, and votes cast at the Creditors' Meeting, and a person designated by the Monitor will act as secretary at the Creditors' Meeting.
- 7.7 The only Persons entitled to attend and speak at the Creditors' Meeting are representatives of the Target Canada Entities and the Plan Sponsor and their respective legal counsel and advisors, the Monitor and its legal counsel and advisors, Pharmacists' Representative Counsel, Employee Representative Counsel, the Employee Trust Trustee and his legal counsel and all other Persons, including the holders of Proxies, entitled to vote at the Creditors' Meeting and their respective legal counsel and advisors. The Meeting Order also provides that the Chair may admit any other Person to the Creditors' Meeting by invitation.
- 7.8 The Chair is authorized to adjourn, postpone or otherwise reschedule the Creditors' Meeting from time to time as the Chair deems necessary or desirable. In the event of such

adjournment, postponement, or rescheduling, none of the Chair, the Monitor, nor the Target Canada Entities will be required to deliver any notice of such adjournment of the Creditors' Meeting, provided that the Monitor will:

- (i) announce the adjournment of the Creditors' Meeting or adjourned Creditors' Meeting, as applicable;
- (ii) post notice of the adjournment at the originally designated time and location of the Creditors' Meeting;
- (iii) post notice of the adjournment on the Monitor's website; and
- (iv) provide notice of the adjournment forthwith to the Service List.
- 7.9 The quorum for the Creditors' Meeting will be one (1) Affected Creditor with a Voting Claim present at such meeting in person or by Proxy.

Voting at Creditors' Meeting

- 7.10 The Meeting Order provides that the Chair will direct a vote on the Resolution to approve the Plan, with any amendments or modifications thereto made in accordance with the Plan, the Meeting Order, and any further Order of the Court.
- 7.11 Convenience Class Creditors will be deemed to have voted in favour of the Plan.
- 7.12 Each Affected Creditor with a Voting Claim will be entitled to one (1) vote equal to the dollar value of its Affected Claim determined as a Voting Claim in accordance with the Claims Procedure Order and the Meeting Order.

- 7.13 Where an Affected Creditor holds a Disputed Claim as of the Creditors' Meeting²⁹, the dollar value of such Disputed Claim for voting purposes shall be the amount set out in respect of the Affected Creditor's Notice of Revision or Disallowance delivered by the Monitor in accordance with the Claims Procedure Order.
- 7.14 The Monitor and its designees appointed in accordance with the Meeting Order will keep separate records of votes cast by Affected Creditors holding Disputed Claims and will report to the Court with respect thereto.
- 7.15 Holders of Intercompany Claims will not be entitled to vote on the Plan. The Plan Sponsor will not be entitled to vote on the Plan in respect of: (i) its Plan Sponsor Subrogated Claims; (ii) any amounts to be contributed to the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Cash Pool and to the Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Equalization Cash Pool under the Plan; or (iii) any Cash Management Lender Claims held through assignment or subrogation (the latter being Unaffected Claims which are not entitled to vote in any event).

Assignment of Claims

7.16 An Affected Creditor, a Propco Unaffected Creditor or a Property LP Unaffected Creditor may transfer or assign the whole of its claim prior to the Creditors' Meeting by providing notice of such transfer or assignment, together with satisfactory evidence of such transfer or assignment to the Monitor in writing, by no later than 5:00 p.m. on the date which is seven (7) days prior to the Creditors' Meeting. Where a Claim has been

²⁹ In accordance with the Meeting Order, Canada Revenue Agency shall have one vote in respect of its Disputed Claims, the dollar value of which shall be equal to \$1, without prejudice to the determination of the dollar value of such Disputed Claims.

transferred or assigned in part, the transferor or assignor will retain the right to vote at the Creditors' Meeting in respect of the full amount of the Claim as determined for voting purposes in accordance with the Claims Procedure Order and the Meeting Order, and the transferee or assignee will have no voting rights at the Creditors' Meeting in respect of such claim.

7.17 An Affected Creditor (other than a Convenience Class Creditor), a Propco Unaffected Creditor or a Property LP Unaffected Creditor may transfer or assign the whole of its Claim after the Creditors' Meeting in the manner set out in the Meeting Order, as described above.

Voting by Proxy

- 7.18 Any Person entitled to vote at the Creditors' Meeting may do so in person or by proxy. The Meeting Materials mailed to Affected Creditors included a Proxy for use at the Creditors' Meeting.
- 7.19 Any Proxy in respect of the Creditors' Meeting (or any adjournment, postponement or other rescheduling thereof) must be: (a) received by the Monitor by 10:00 a.m. on May 24, 2016, or 24 hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and statutory holidays) prior to any adjourned, postponed or rescheduled Creditors' Meeting; or (b) deposited with the Chair at the Creditors' Meeting (or any adjournment, postponement or other rescheduling thereof) immediately prior to the vote at the time specified by the Chair (the "Election/Proxy Deadline").

7.20 In the absence of specific instructions to vote for or against the approval of the Resolution in a duly signed and delivered Proxy, the Meeting Order provides that the Proxy shall be deemed to include the instruction to vote for the approval of the Resolution, provided that the Proxy-holder does not otherwise exercise its right to vote at the Creditors' Meeting.

8.0 CASH FLOW RESULTS RELATIVE TO FORECAST

8.1 Receipts and disbursements for the period April 3 to 30, 2016 (the "Reporting Period", noting that cash flow results through April 2, 2016 were reported in the Twenty-Sixth Report) as compared to the cash flow forecast that was attached as Appendix "B" to the Twenty-Sixth Report (the "Cash Flow Forecast"), are summarized on the following page.

n

(\$ in 000's CAD, unless otherwise noted)

	Cumulative							
Period Ended	Budget 30-Apr		Actual 30-Apr		Variance B / (W)			
OPERATING RECEIPTS								
Sales Receipts	\$	-	\$	-	\$	- 1		
Other Receipts		120		188		68		
TOTAL RECEIPTS		120		188		68		
OPERATING DISBURSEMENTS					•			
Employee Payments		30		51		(21)		
Rent & Occupancy		-		-		- 1		
DC / Logistics		-		-		-		
Normal Course Taxes		-		-		272		
Professional Fees		1,600		1,327	I	273		
All Other		350		110		239		
Current Operating Disbursements		1,980		1,489		491		
OPERATING CASH FLOW		(1,860)		(1,300)		560		
INTERCOMPANY DISBURSEMENTS								
Intercompany Services		460		393		67		
DIP Interest		-		-	1	-		
Intercompany Disbursements		460		393		67		
NET CASH FLOW	\$	(2,320)	\$	(1,694)	\$	626		
WEEKLY LIQUIDITY						1		
Beginning Bank Cash Balance [1]	\$	798,197	\$	798,197	\$	-		
(+/-) Net Cash Flow		(2,320)		(1,694)		626		
(+/-) Change in Cheque Float (+/-) DIP Draws/(Repayments)		-		(11)		(11)		
(+/-) FX Translation		-		-		_ [
Ending Bank Cash Balance [2]		795,877		796,492		615		
		175,011		770,472		015		

[1] Beginning Cash Balance was actualized in the cash flow forecast that was attached as Appendix "B" to the Twenty-Sixth Report

[2] Actuals assume \$1.25 CAD/ 1.00 USD

8.2 During the Reporting Period, the Target Canada Entities' total receipts were approximately \$68,000 greater than as projected in the Cash Flow Forecast. The variance was due primarily to the reimbursement from the Employee Trust of payments made to

former employees and vendor income receipts that were not reflected in the Cash Flow Forecast.

- 8.3 The Target Canada Entities' total disbursements during the Reporting Period were approximately \$558,000 less than as projected in the Cash Flow Forecast. Management attributes this variance to: (a) payments made to former employees on behalf of the Employee Trust that will be reimbursed to TCC in the near term; (b) timing differences in the payment of professional fees; and (c) lower than forecast Other expenses associated with the Orderly Wind-down and Shared Services costs.
- 8.4 The closing cash balance as at April 30, 2016 was approximately \$796.5 million, as compared to the projected cash balance of \$795.9 million.
- 8.5 The Initial Order entitles the Target Canada Entities to continue to utilize their existing Cash Management System, as described in the Pre-Filing report. The Cash Management System of the Target Canada Entities continues to operate in the same manner as it had prior to the commencement of the CCAA Proceedings, with the exception that all 133 retail Stores were closed to the public on or before April 12, 2015.

9.0 MONITOR'S CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION

9.1 The Monitor and its legal counsel have assisted the Target Canada Entities throughout the CCAA Proceedings in the development of the Amended Plan. The Monitor participated in the negotiation of the Plan and is of the view that the Plan complies with the requirements of the CCAA, in particular the requirements outlined in section 6 thereof.

- 9.2 As set out in paragraph 6.2 above, the Monitor currently estimates that Affected Creditors with Proven Claims will receive distributions under the Amended Plan in the range of approximately 71% to 80% of such Affected Creditors' Proven Claims. Based on the Illustrative Recoveries Analysis and the Bankruptcy Analysis (and subject to the important qualifications noted in paragraphs 6.1 and 4.25 above), the Monitor estimates that distributions to Affected Creditors with Proven Claims under the Amended Plan will be significantly greater than in a bankruptcy proceeding under the BIA.
- 9.3 Based on the Monitor's review of the Amended Plan and noting the Monitor's commentary with respect to the Plan provided herein, in the Monitor's view the Amended Plan is fair and reasonable.
- 9.4 The Amended Plan is supported by all of Target Canada's landlords in respect of their disclaimed leases and the Court-appointed members of the Consultative Committee recommend that Affected Creditors vote in favour of the Amended Plan at the Creditors' Meeting.
- 9.5 The Monitor recommends that the Affected Creditors of the Target Canada Entities vote in favour of the Amended Plan.

All of which is respectfully submitted to this Court this 11th day of May, 2016.

Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc., in its capacity as Monitor of Target Canada Co., and the other Applicants listed on Appendix "A"

Name: Douglas R. McIntosh

Title: President

Per:

Name: Alah J. Hutchens Title: Senior Vice-President

Per:

APPENDIX "A"

Applicants

Target Canada Co.

Target Canada Health Co.

Target Canada Mobile GP Co.

Target Canada Pharmacy (BC) Corp.

Target Canada Pharmacy (Ontario) Corp.

Target Canada Pharmacy (SK) Corp.

Target Canada Pharmacy Corp.

Target Canada Property LLC

Partnerships

Target Canada Pharmacy Franchising LP

Target Canada Mobile LP

Target Canada Property LP

APPENDIX "B"

TWENTY-SIXTH REPORT OF THE MONITOR DATED APRIL 7, 2016

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE COMMERCIAL LIST

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF TARGET CANADA CO., TARGET CANADA HEALTH CO., TARGET CANADA MOBILE GP CO., TARGET CANADA PHARMACY (BC) CORP., TARGET CANADA PHARMACY (ONTARIO) CORP., TARGET CANADA PHARMACY CORP., TARGET CANADA PHARMACY (SK) CORP., AND TARGET CANADA PHARMACY LLC

TWENTY-SIXTH REPORT OF THE MONITOR ALVAREZ & MARSAL CANADA INC.

APRIL 7, 2016

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0	INTRODUCTION	1
2.0	TERMS OF REFERENCE AND DISCLAIMER	3
3.0	AGREEMENTS WITH LANDLORDS	5
4.0	AMENDED AND RESTATED JOINT PLAN OF COMPROMISE AND ARRANGEMENT	12
5.0	CLAIMS PROCESS	21
6.0	ILLUSTRATIVE RANGE OF ESTIMATED CREDITOR RECOVERIES	29
7.0	MEETING ORDER	31
8.0	CASH FLOW RESULTS RELATIVE TO FORECAST	38
9.0	CCAA CASH FLOW FORECAST	40
10.0	EXTENSION OF THE STAY PERIOD	42
11.0	MONITOR'S CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION	43

INDEX TO APPENDICES

Appendix "A" – List of the Applicants and Partnerships

Appendix "B" – Cash Flow Forecast for the 10-Week Period Ending June 11, 2016

1.0 INTRODUCTION

- 1.1 On January 15, 2015, Target Canada Co. ("TCC") and those companies listed in Appendix "A" (collectively, the "Applicants"), together with the Partnerships also listed in Appendix "A" (the "Partnerships", and collectively with the Applicants, the "Target Canada Entities"), applied for and were granted protection by the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) (the "Court") under the *Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended (the "CCAA"). Pursuant to an Order of this Court dated January 15, 2015, Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc. ("A&M") was appointed Monitor of the Target Canada Entities in the CCAA proceedings (the "Monitor"). The proceedings commenced by the Applicants under the CCAA are referred to herein as the "CCAA Proceedings".
- 1.2 On February 11, 2015, this Court issued the "Amended and Restated Initial Order" (hereinafter, unless the context otherwise requires, the "Initial Order"), which incorporates certain changes to the Initial Order granted January 15, 2015 that were described in the Second Report of the Monitor dated February 9, 2015.
- 1.3 In connection with the CCAA Proceedings, the Monitor has provided to this Court twenty-five reports and two supplementary reports (the "Supplementary Reports", and collectively, the "Monitor's Reports"). A&M has also provided to this Court the Pre-Filing Report of the Proposed Monitor (the "Pre-Filing Report") dated January 14, 2015 (together with the Monitor's Reports, the "Prior Reports"). The Prior Reports, the Initial Order and other Court-filed documents and notices in these CCAA Proceedings are available on the Monitor's website at alvarezandmarsal.com/targetcanada.

- 1.4 The purpose of this Twenty-Sixth Report of the Monitor (the "Twenty-Sixth Report") is to provide this Court with:
 - (i) information regarding the following:
 - (a) agreements with Landlords;
 - (b) the Amended and Restated Joint Plan of Compromise and Arrangement dated April 6, 2016 (the "Amended Plan" or "Plan");
 - (c) the Claims Process;
 - (d) an updated illustrative range of estimated creditor recoveries based on the Amended Plan;
 - (e) the Applicants' motion for an order substantially in the form attached to the Applicants' Motion Record dated April 6, 2016 (the "Meeting Order"), among other things:
 - (1) accepting the filing of the Amended Plan;
 - (2) authorizing the Target Canada Entities to establish one class of Affected Creditors for the purpose of considering and voting on the Amended Plan (the "Unsecured Creditors' Class");
 - (3) authorizing the Target Canada Entities to call, hold and conduct a meeting of the Affected Creditors (the "Creditors' Meeting") to consider and vote on a resolution to approve the Amended Plan,

and approving the procedures to be followed with respect to the Creditors' Meeting;

- setting the date for the hearing of the Target Canada Entities' motion seeking sanction of the Amended Plan should the Plan be approved by the required majority of Affected Creditors at the Creditors' Meeting;
- (5) extending the Stay Period to June 6, 2016; and
- (6) extending the Notice of Objection Bar Date to 28 days followingJune 6, 2016 or such later date as this Court may Order;
- (f) the receipts and disbursements of the Target Canada Entities for the period March 6, 2016 to April 2, 2016; and
- (g) the updated and extended cash flow forecast of the Target Canada Entities for the period April 3, 2016 to June 11, 2016; and
- (ii) the Monitor's conclusions and recommendations in connection with the foregoing.

2.0 TERMS OF REFERENCE AND DISCLAIMER

2.1 In preparing this Twenty-Sixth Report, the Monitor has been provided with, and has relied upon, unaudited financial information, books and records and financial information prepared by the Target Canada Entities and Target Corporation, and discussions with management of the Target Canada Entities and Target Corporation (collectively, the

"**Information**"). Except as otherwise described in this Twenty-Sixth Report in respect of the Target Canada Entities' cash flow forecast:

- (i) the Monitor has reviewed the Information for reasonableness, internal consistency and use in the context in which it was provided. However, the Monitor has not audited or otherwise attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of the Information in a manner that would wholly or partially comply with Canadian Auditing Standards ("CASs") pursuant to the *Chartered Professional Accountants Canada Handbook* and, accordingly, the Monitor expresses no opinion or other form of assurance contemplated under CASs in respect of the Information; and
- (ii) some of the information referred to in this Twenty-Sixth Report consists of forecasts and projections. An examination or review of the financial forecasts and projections, as outlined in the *Chartered Professional Accountants Handbook*, has not been performed.
- 2.2 This Twenty-Sixth Report should be read in conjunction with the Affidavit of Mark J. Wong, General Counsel and Secretary of TCC in support of the Meeting Order, sworn on April 6, 2016 (the "Wong Affidavit Meeting Order").
- 2.3 Unless otherwise indicated, capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Twenty-Sixth Report are as defined in the Prior Reports, the Initial Order and the Wong Affidavit – Meeting Order, as applicable.
- 2.4 Unless otherwise stated, all monetary amounts contained in this Twenty-Sixth Report are expressed in Canadian dollars.

3.0 AGREEMENTS WITH LANDLORDS

3.1 As described in the Wong Affidavit – Meeting Order, the Target Canada Entities have developed the Amended Plan to present to their creditors. A copy of each of the Amended Plan, and a blackline comparing the Plan to the Joint Plan of Compromise and Arrangement dated November 27, 2015 (the "**Original Plan**") that the Target Canada Entities sought to file with the Court in late December 2015, are attached as Exhibits "A" and "C" to the Wong Affidavit – Meeting Order.

Landlord Guarantee Creditors

- 3.2 The most significant structural change to the Amended Plan relative to the Original Plan is that in order to comply with the Court's January 15 Endorsement¹ and, in turn, preserve the subordination of the vast majority of the Intercompany Claims where such subordination was contingent on resolving the Landlord Guarantee Claims, all of the Landlord Guarantee Creditors and Target Corporation have reached a comprehensive agreement (the "Landlord Guarantee Creditor Settlement Agreement", executed as of March 4, 2016), outside of the Plan, that is intended to resolve all Landlord Guarantee Claims and contractually release Target Corporation and others from the Landlord Guarantee Claims. As such, Target Corporation's release under the Plan does not include a release in respect of the Landlord Guarantee Claims.
- 3.3 The Landlord Guarantee Creditor Settlement Agreement covers 37 disclaimed store leases that were guaranteed directly or indirectly by Target Corporation. While TCC is

¹ Among other things, the January 15 Endorsement held that the filing of the Original Plan would violate paragraph 19A of the Initial Order by compromising the Landlord Guarantee Claims without the consent of the affected Landlords.

not a party to the Landlord Guarantee Creditor Settlement Agreement, TCC, Target Corporation and the Monitor, and each party's respective legal counsel, were extensively involved in the analyses and negotiations that culminated in the agreement. The settlement of the Landlord Guarantee Claims is conditional, among other things, on the approval and implementation of the Plan. A copy of the Landlord Guarantee Creditor Settlement Agreement, without schedules, and with certain confidential information removed or redacted, is attached as Exhibit "E" to the Wong Affidavit – Meeting Order.

- 3.4 The Original Plan valued all Landlord Restructuring Period Claims using the Landlord Formula Amount that was derived from the BIA Formula and then enhanced to provide an improved recovery to Landlords. As a result of the agreements with Landlord Guarantee Creditors and Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditors (described below), the Amended Plan no longer uses the Landlord Formula Amount. TCC and the Landlords, with the assistance of the Monitor, have consensually agreed on the amounts of the Landlords' Landlord Restructuring Period Claims and Pre-filing Claims.
- 3.5 As a result of the Landlord Guarantee Creditor Settlement Agreement and the Amended Plan, Landlord Guarantee Creditors are to receive aggregate enhanced recoveries relative to the Original Plan of approximately \$69.9 million (inclusive of applicable GST/HST). Of this \$69.9 million: (i) approximately \$25.5 million is to be funded by a cash contribution from Target Corporation as Plan Sponsor; (ii) approximately \$34.1 million is to be funded by the Plan Sponsor contributing back amounts for the benefit of Landlord Guarantee Creditors that it otherwise would have recovered on intercompany claims under the Plan; and (iii) the balance of approximately \$10.3 million is to be funded by the estates of the Target Canada Entities largely as a result of increased Landlord Guarantee

Creditor Base Claim Amounts at 100% recoveries. Under the Original Plan, the \$34.1 million would have been funded into the TCC Cash Pool for the benefit of Affected Creditors. Under the Amended Plan, this amount is to be funded into the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Cash Pool for the benefit of the Landlord Guarantee Creditors.

3.6 In aggregate, estimated recoveries to Landlord Guarantee Creditors under the Landlord Guarantee Creditor Settlement Agreement and the Amended Plan are approximately \$200.3 million, as compared to approximately \$130.4 million under the Original Plan (including the Landlord Guarantee Creditor Top-Up Amounts provided for in the Original Plan). As at February 26, 2016, the Monitor estimated that enhanced recoveries to Landlord Guarantee Creditors required to reach a consensual resolution would result in decreased recoveries to Affected Creditors of approximately 8.6% to 8.9% relative to the Original Plan (from a range of 75.3% to 85.3% to a range of 66.4% to 76.7%). An updated illustrative range of estimated recoveries as at April 1, 2016 is provided later in this Twenty-Sixth Report and estimates that Affected Creditors will receive distributions of approximately 68% to 78% under the Amended Plan.²

Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditors

3.7 Following the Court's January 15 Endorsement, during the course of further negotiations with the Landlords to reach a consensual resolution and preserve the subordination of the vast majority of Intercompany Claims contemplated in the Original Plan, Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditors (some of which had disclaimed leases that were guaranteed and others that were not guaranteed) required that their recoveries not be diluted on account

² All illustrative ranges of recovery provided in this Twenty-Sixth Report are subject to the important qualifications set out in paragraph 6.1 of this Report, and those set out in the Monitor's Twenty-Third and Twenty-Fourth Reports.

of enhanced recoveries to Landlord Guarantee Creditors. This was accomplished through the development of the Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Equalization Amount that was ultimately included in the Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Consent and Support Agreements between TCC and each Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor, which amount is to be funded by the Plan Sponsor with the intention that recoveries to Affected Creditors will not be diluted by the equalization amount. The Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Equalization Amount utilized the approximate mid-points of the estimated recovery ranges in each of the Original Plan (75.3% to 85.3% based on information available as at November 27, 2015; approximate mid-point of 80.1%) and the Amended Plan (66.4% to 76.7% based on information available as at March 4, 2016; approximate mid-point of 71.1%) to quantify the equalization amount to Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditors in the Amended Plan that was required to keep Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditors in approximately the same economic position as in the Original Plan.

- 3.8 The Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Consent and Support Agreements cover 52 disclaimed leases (38 store leases and 14 office and warehouse leases) that were not guaranteed by Target Corporation. A copy of the Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Consent and Support Agreement, without schedules, and with certain confidential information removed or redacted, is attached as Exhibit "F" to the Wong Affidavit Meeting Order.
- 3.9 As a result of the Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Consent and Support Agreements, Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditors are to receive combined aggregate equalization amounts of approximately \$7.5 million (inclusive of applicable GST/HST). All of the \$7.5 million is to be funded by an additional cash contribution by the Plan Sponsor. The

Plan Sponsor will receive approximately \$3.4 million of the \$7.5 million back through equalization payments to the Plan Sponsor on account of Landlord Claims that have been assigned to Target Corporation. In aggregate, estimated recoveries (not including equalization amounts) to Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditors under the Amended Plan are approximately \$127.5 million to \$145.7 million.

Landlord Guarantee Creditor Settlement Agreements

- 3.10 The Landlord Guarantee Creditor Settlement Agreement provides for, among other things:
 - (i) each Landlord Guarantee Creditor's agreement to vote all of its Claims in favour of the Amended Plan substantially in the form of the Plan attached to the Landlord Guarantee Creditor Settlement Agreement;
 - (ii) each Landlord Guarantee Creditor's consent to the motions by the Target Canada
 Entities seeking the Meeting Order and Sanction and Vesting Order;
 - (iii) a full and final settlement of the Landlord Guarantee Claims outside of the Amended Plan, on a consensual basis, that complies with paragraph 19A of the Initial Order and the January 15 Endorsement;
 - (iv) a full and final contractual release from each Landlord Guarantee Creditor in favour of Target Corporation and all predecessors in interest to the Target Canada Entities, including the HBC Entities, from the Landlord Guarantee Claims;

- (v) each Landlord Guarantee Creditor to execute and deliver to TCC an Acknowledgement and Direction that consensually resolves its Landlord Restructuring Period Claim and Pre-filing Claim; and
- (vi) an aggregate payment by Target Corporation of \$700,000 towards the costs of certain Landlord Guarantee Creditors, including but not limited to, the settlement of costs issues arising out of the Original Meeting Order Motion.

Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Consent and Support Agreements

- 3.11 Each Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Consent and Support Agreement provides for, among other things:
 - settlement of the Landlord's Landlord Restructuring Period Claims and Pre-filing
 Claims, if any, in accordance with the Claims Procedure Order;
 - (ii) the Landlord's agreement to vote all of its Claims in favour of the Amended Plan substantially in the form of the Plan attached to the Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Consent and Support Agreement; and
 - (iii) the Landlord's consent to the motions by the Target Canada Entities seeking the Meeting Order and Sanction and Vesting Order.

Plan Sponsor Agreement

3.12 Target Corporation and TCC have entered into a Plan Sponsor Agreement, attached as Exhibit "E" to the Wong Affidavit – Meeting Order, which contains Target Corporation's commitment to fund its contributions into the Plan, including amounts required to fund the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Cash Pool and the Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Equalization Cash Pool.

Related Conditions and Steps Included in the Amended Plan

- 3.13 Both the Landlord Guarantee Creditor Settlement Agreement and the Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Consent and Support Agreements are conditional on the completion of a number of steps relating to the Plan, including the following (when the conditions of both agreements are combined):
 - the Target Canada Entities must have amended and restated the Original Plan such that the Amended Plan reflects the terms and conditions set out in the Term Sheet;
 - (ii) the Target Canada Entities must obtain the Proposed Meeting Order, in form and substance satisfactory to TCC and Target Corporation, by April 21, 2016 or such later date acceptable to TCC, Target Corporation and the Landlords;
 - (iii) the Amended Plan must have been approved at the Creditors' Meeting by the Required Majority of the Affected Creditors;
 - (iv) the Target Canada Entities must obtain the Sanction and Vesting Order, in form and substance satisfactory to TCC and Target Corporation, by June 6, 2016 or such later date acceptable to TCC, Target Corporation and the Landlords, and such Order must become a Final Order; and

 (v) the Plan Implementation Date under the Amended Plan must occur within seven days from the date on which the Sanction and Vesting Order becomes a Final Order.

4.0 AMENDED AND RESTATED JOINT PLAN OF COMPROMISE AND ARRANGEMENT

4.1 Capitalized terms utilized in this section of the Twenty-Sixth Report not otherwise defined herein have the meaning given to them in the Amended Plan. Readers are cautioned that the commentary below is an overview only, and, as such, interested parties should review the Amended Plan in its entirety. In addition, as set out below, on or before May 11, 2016, the Monitor will provide to the Service List a Report regarding the Plan and the Monitor's analysis of same. Key elements of the Amended Plan are described below.

Overview of the Amended Plan

4.2 Target Corporation will act as Plan Sponsor and provide support through, among other things: (i) permitting the subordination of certain Intercompany Claims, including the Propco Intercompany Claim which was filed pursuant to the Claims Procedure Order against TCC in an amount of \$1,911,494,242 (and proposed to be adjusted downwards by the Monitor in the Intercompany Claims Report to an amount of \$1,356,756,051); and (ii) the contribution of approximately: (a) \$25.5 million towards the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Amount;³ (b) \$34.1 million towards the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement

³ The Plan Sponsor's contribution of approximately \$25.5 million towards the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Amount is intended to replace the aggregate Landlord Guarantee Creditor Top-Up Amounts proposed in the

Amount by contributing back amounts that it otherwise would have recovered on certain Intercompany Claims under the Amended Plan;⁴ (c) \$7.5 million towards the Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Equalization Amount; and (d) \$700,000 towards the costs of certain Landlord Guarantee Creditors, including the settlement of costs arising out of the Original Meeting Order Motion.

- 4.3 The Amended Plan provides for a single class of Affected Creditors that will consider and vote on the Plan at the Creditors' Meeting to be held at the Toronto Board of Trade in Toronto, Ontario on May 25, 2016.
- 4.4 The Amended Plan separates Claims according to whether they are asserted and proven against: (i) TCC or its subsidiaries (on a consolidated basis); or (ii) Propco or Property LP. After Claims against Propco and Property LP are paid or provided for in accordance with the Plan, any remaining cash at Propco will be contributed to the TCC Cash Pool Account for the benefit of Affected Creditors of the Target Canada Entities.
- 4.5 If approved, sanctioned and implemented, the Amended Plan is intended to:
 - (i) complete the controlled and orderly wind down of the Target Canada Entities in a timely manner without potentially costly and lengthy litigation and delay;
 - (ii) effect a compromise, settlement and payment of all Proven Claims in the near term;
 - (iii) grant releases of the Target Canada Entities and others;

Original Plan. The Monitor previously valued the aggregate Landlord Guarantee Creditor Top-Up Amounts at approximately \$18 million to \$32 million, and \$25.5 million represents the approximate mid-point of that range.

⁴ See paragraph 3.5 of this Report.

- (iv) grant releases in favour of Target Corporation, except in respect of Landlord Guarantee Claims; and
- (v) comply with paragraph 19A of the Initial Order, the Claims Procedure Order and the Court's January 15 Endorsement.

Creditor Claims

4.6 Pursuant to the terms of the Amended Plan:

Claims Against Propco and Property LP

- (i) Propco Unaffected Creditors and Property LP Unaffected Creditors with Proven Claims against Propco and Property LP, respectively, will receive 100% of their Proven Claims from the Propco Cash Pool Account.⁵ These payments are accomplished through the subordination of certain Intercompany Claims and the partial subordination of others.
- (ii) Payments from the Propco Cash Pool Account will then be made on a *pro rata* basis in partial satisfaction of the following Intercompany Claims: (i) to TCC, on account of the TCC (Pre-filing Propco) Intercompany Claim and the TCC (Post-filing Propco) Intercompany Claim; (ii) to the Plan Sponsor, on account of the Plan Sponsor (Propco) Intercompany Claim; and (iii) to Property LP, on account of that amount of the Property LP (Propco) Intercompany Claim in excess of the Contributed Claim Amount.

⁵ Property LP will receive an amount from Propco equal to the Contributed Claim Amount in partial satisfaction of the Property LP (Propco) Intercompany Claim, which amount will be used to fund the claims of Property LP Unaffected Creditors.

- (iii) On the Initial Distribution Date, the Plan Sponsor will re-contribute some of the funds described in the previous sub-paragraph that were paid in partial satisfaction of the Intercompany Claims, according to the following steps (the "Plan Sponsor Contribution Waterfall"):
 - (a) First, Property LP will direct TCC on behalf of Propco to pay to the Plan
 Sponsor any amounts payable to Property LP by Propco in respect of the
 Property LP (Propco) Intercompany Claim.
 - (b) Second, the Plan Sponsor will direct TCC to deposit an amount of approximately \$34.1 million into the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Cash Pool Account on account of the distributions otherwise payable to the Plan Sponsor in respect of the Plan Sponsor (Propco) Intercompany Claim and amounts payable to the Plan Sponsor as directed by Property LP in respect of the Property LP (Propco) Intercompany Claim.
 - (c) Third, the Plan Sponsor will direct TCC to deposit any remaining balance of the distribution in respect of the Plan Sponsor (Propco) Intercompany Claim and the amount payable to the Plan Sponsor in respect of the Property LP (Propco) Intercompany Claim into the Plan Sponsor Propco Recovery Limit Reserve Account up to a maximum amount equal to the Plan Sponsor Propco Recovery Limit (*i.e.*, \$23,427,369) – any

undistributed balance of which will ultimately be contributed to the TCC Cash Pool in accordance with the Amended Plan.⁶

- (d) Fourth, TCC will deposit into the TCC Cash Pool: (1) all of the distributions that TCC received in respect of its Intercompany Claims against Propco; and (2) the remaining balance of any distributions that the Plan Sponsor received from Propco or at the direction of Property LP after completing the preceding steps in the Plan Sponsor Contribution Waterfall.
- (iv) All remaining cash in the Propco Cash Pool Account, subject to any funds transferred and held in the Propco Disputed Claims Reserve Account and the Plan Sponsor (Propco) Intercompany Claim Recovery Limit Account, will be transferred to the TCC Cash Pool Account.

Claims Against the Target Canada Entities other than Propco and Property LP

Unaffected Creditors (including creditors with: (i) Proven Claims secured by any of the CCAA Charges; (ii) Proven Claims enumerated in sections 5.1(2) and 19(2) of the CCAA; (iii) Cash Management Lender Claims; and (iv) proven TCC Secured Construction Lien Claims against a lease assigned in the Real Property Portfolio Sales Process) will not be compromised under the Plan;

⁶ Amounts will only be paid from the Plan Sponsor Recovery Limit Reserve Account to the Plan Sponsor in essentially the same proportion, and on the same dates, that TCC makes distributions to Affected Creditors that are not Convenience Class Creditors or Landlord Guarantee Creditors. The remaining amounts in the account will ultimately be deposited in the TCC Cash Pool Account as a contribution by the Plan Sponsor to TCC.

- (ii) Convenience Class Creditors will receive the lesser of: (a) 100% of their Proven Claims; and (b) \$25,000;
- (iii) Landlord Guarantee Creditors will receive payments on the Initial Distribution Date from two cash pools: (i) the Landlord Guarantee Creditor Base Claim Cash Pool – for 100% of each Landlord Guarantee Creditor Base Claim Amount, being the agreed upon amount of each Landlord Guarantee Creditor's Landlord Restructuring Period Claim and Pre-filing Claim; and (ii) the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Cash Pool – for 100% of each Landlord Guarantee Creditor's Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Amount under the Landlord Guarantee Creditor Settlement Agreement. Total payments to be made to Landlord Guarantee Creditors from the Landlord Guarantee Creditor Base Claim Cash Pool and the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Cash Pool are anticipated to be approximately \$140.8 million and \$59.5 million, respectively (\$200.3 million in aggregate);
- (iv) Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditors will receive payments from two cash pools:
 (i) the TCC Cash Pool on the Initial Distribution Date (and any subsequent Distribution Dates) for each Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor's Pro Rata Share of the remaining cash in the TCC Cash Pool Account, subject to any funds transferred and held in the Administrative Reserve Account and the TCC Disputed Claims Reserve Account; and (ii) the Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Equalization Cash Pool on the Initial Distribution Date for 100% of each Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor's Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor

Equalization Amount under the Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Consent and Support Agreements; and

(v) all other Affected Creditors with Proven Claims will receive their respective Pro Rata Share of the remaining cash in the TCC Cash Pool Account from time to time, subject to any funds transferred and held in the Administrative Reserve Account and the TCC Disputed Claims Reserve Account.

Intercompany Claims

- 4.7 Target Corporation has agreed to or facilitated the following as part of a consensual global resolution:
 - (i) the prior subordination of the \$3.1 billion NE1 Intercompany Claim;
 - (ii) the re-contributions into the TCC Cash Pool described in paragraph 4.6 (iii), above;
 - (iii) the subordination of the Propco Intercompany Claim which was filed pursuant to the Claims Procedure Order against TCC in an amount of \$1,911,494,242 (and proposed to be adjusted downwards by the Monitor in the Intercompany Claims Report to an amount of \$1,356,756,051);⁷ and
 - (iv) the subordination of other Intercompany Claims as set out in Schedule "A" to the Amended Plan.

⁷ The Monitor understands that for purposes of the Plan only, Target Corporation will accept all downward adjustments proposed by the Monitor.

- 4.8 As a result of the foregoing, only the following Intercompany Claims will remain as unsubordinated claims against Propco, Property LP and TCC:
 - Property LP claim against TCC in the amount of \$82,861,821 (proposed to be adjusted downwards by the Monitor in the Intercompany Claims Report from the filed amount of \$87,748,817);
 - (ii) Target Brands Inc. claim against TCC in the amount of \$22,416,731
 (US\$18,787,069 converted to Canadian dollars; proposed to be adjusted downwards by the Monitor in the Intercompany Claims Report from the filed amount of US\$23,573,542);
 - (iii) Target Corporate Services Inc. claim against TCC in the amount of \$2,582,573
 (US\$2,164,409 converted to Canadian dollars; proposed to be adjusted downwards by the Monitor in the Intercompany Claims Report from the filed amount of US\$2,778,278); and
 - (iv) Target Corporation claim against TCC in the amount of \$602,349 (US\$504,818 converted to Canadian dollars; proposed to be adjusted downwards by the Monitor in the Intercompany Claims Report from the filed amount of US\$541,404).

Plan Releases

- 4.9 The Plan provides for certain full and final releases in favour of:
 - the Target Canada Released Parties (which include the Target Canada Entities, NE1, and their respective Directors, Officers, employees, legal counsel, agents and advisors);
 - (ii) the Third Party Released Parties (which include the Monitor, A&M, their respective directors, officers, employees, legal counsel, agents and advisors, and Pharmacists' Representative Counsel and members of the Consultative Committee and their advisors);
 - (iii) the Plan Sponsor Released Parties (which include Target Corporation, its subsidiaries other than the Target Canada Entities and NE1, the HBC Entities and their respective directors, officers, employees, legal counsel, agents and advisors), excluding in respect of Landlord Guarantee Claims; and
 - (iv) the Employee Trust Released Parties (which include the Employee Trust Administrator and its respective directors and officers and the Employee Trust Trustee, Employee Representative Counsel, Employee Representatives and all of their respective counsel and advisors).

<u>Other</u>

4.10 In connection with the filing of the Amended Plan, the Target Canada Entities have drafted a letter to be sent to the Affected Creditors (the "Letter to Creditors") as part of

the Meeting Materials. The Letter to Creditors highlights information from the Plan to help Affected Creditors understand the Plan. A copy of the draft Letter to Creditors is attached as Exhibit "B" to the Wong Affidavit – Meeting Order.

4.11 The Monitor will issue a report on the Amended Plan on or before May 11, 2016 in advance of the Creditors' Meeting proposed to be held on May 25, 2016.

5.0 CLAIMS PROCESS

- 5.1 On June 11, 2015, this Court issued the claims procedure order (as amended, the "Claims Procedure Order") approving the claims process (the "Claims Process") to identify and determine claims of creditors ("Claims") of the Target Canada Entities and their Directors and Officers. The Claims Procedure Order was summarized in the Fifteenth Report of the Monitor, and an update on the completion of the notification requirements of the Claims Procedure Order was provided in the Eighteenth Report.
- 5.2 As described in certain of the Prior Reports, including the Twenty-Fifth Report, the Claims Procedure Order provided for the following Claims bar dates:
 - (i) Intercompany Claims July 31, 2015 (the "Intercompany Claims Bar Date");
 - (ii) Pre-filing Claims August 31, 2015 (the "Claims Bar Date");
 - (iii) D&O Claims August 31, 2015; and
 - (iv) Restructuring Period Claims the later of: (i) 45 days after the date on which the Monitor sends a Claims Package with respect to a Restructuring Period Claim; and (ii) the Claims Bar Date.

Intercompany Claims

- 5.3 As required by the Claims Procedure Order, the Monitor provided a comprehensive report on its review of the Intercompany Claims in the Twentieth Report of the Monitor (the "Intercompany Claims Report") dated August 31, 2015.
- 5.4 Paragraph 37 of the Claims Procedure Order provided that after the service of the Monitor's Intercompany Claims Report, any Claimant may file objections, which may include, but are not limited to, any argument asserted for the subordination of outstanding intercompany debts of any of the Target Canada Entities, any relief in connection with claims to priority, any claim asserted for substantive consolidation, and the validity and quantum of Intercompany Claims and any claim relating to debt re-characterization, by filing a Notice of Objection with the Monitor, not later than the Notice of Objection Bar Date of September 30, 2015.
- 5.5 As described in the Twenty-Fifth Report, the Notice of Objection Bar Date has been extended several times, with the last of such extensions occurring at the hearing on March 14, 2015, where the Court issued an order extending the Notice of Objection Bar Date to 28 days following April 15, 2016, or such other date as the Court may order.
- 5.6 In light of the progress that has been made in achieving a consensual resolution of issues, including reaching settlements with the landlords and the Target Canada Entities' filing of the Amended Plan that will address Intercompany Claims, the Applicants are seeking an extension of the Notice of Objection Bar Date to 28 days following June 6, 2016. The Monitor supports this request as it is consistent with the extension to the Stay Period that

is being sought by the Applicants and it will prevent stakeholders from incurring costs that may prove to be unnecessary.

Landlord Claims

5.7 The Monitor received 18 Notices of Dispute with respect to landlord claims relating to assigned leases by the February 29, 2016 deadline (posted to the Monitor's website and served on the Service List)⁸ and one Notice of Dispute from a third-party in respect of an indemnity that TCC provided in relation to a disclaimed lease.⁹ The Monitor continues to review and assess these Notices of Dispute and will provide updates to the Court as the Claims Process continues to advance.¹⁰

Status of Claims Review and Assessment

- 5.8 As at April 1, 2016, 1,745 Claims have been filed with the Monitor, totalling approximately \$2.6 billion. As summarized in the tables below:
 - (i) 1,580 Claims have been reviewed, reconciled, resolved and allowed (or deemed allowed or disallowed as the time for a Claimant to respond to a Notice of Revision or Disallowance ("NRDA") issued by the Monitor has expired) (collectively, the "Resolved Claims"); and

⁸ See the Monitor's Twenty-Fifth Report.

⁹ The deadline for filing a Notice of Dispute with respect to landlord claims relating to disclaimed leases has not been set; however, any such disputes would be superseded by the terms of the landlord agreements pursuant to which the landlords have agreed to their respective Claim amount in respect of disclaimed leases for both voting and distribution purposes.

¹⁰ Certain of these NODs with respect to assigned leases are to be withdrawn in accordance with the terms of the settlement agreement or related documents.

- (ii) 165 Claims are either:
 - (a) under review by the Monitor six Claims (all of which were filed subsequent to the Claims Bar Date); or
 - (b) subject to a Notice of Dispute ("NOD") received by the Monitor from the Claimant in response to an NRDA issued by the Monitor, which NOD is under review by the Monitor (the "NOD Stage") 159 Claims, including 19 NODs with respect to landlord Claims (as described above) and 81 Pharmacist Franchisee Claims;¹¹

(collectively, the "Unresolved Claims").

5.9 As at April 1, 2016, a summary of the Resolved Claims and Unresolved Claims is as follows:

	Fi	led Amount	Allowed			D	eemed Disal	lowed		Total
				Filed	Allowed		Filed	Allowed		
Category	#	\$	#	\$	\$	#	\$	\$	#	\$
Landlord (a)(b)	84	1,811,555,664	79	1,811,555,659	335,226,452	5	5	-	84	335,226,452
Vendor	1366	273,077,385	1341	269,303,388	251,472,558	25	3,773,997	-	1,366	251,472,558
Pharmacist	13	14,864,706	13	14,864,706	3,510,038	-	-	-	13	3,510,038
Government	4	5,111,357	3	5,111,356	5,087,288	1	1	-	4	5,087,288
Litigation	56	5,952,267	48	4,954,765	492,705	8	997,502	-	56	492,705
Employee	55	719,422	11	386,229	136,546	44	333,193	-	55	136,546
Other	2	2	-	-	-	2	2	-	2	-
Total	1580	2,111,280,803	1495	2,106,176,103	595,925,588	85	5,104,700	-	1,580	595,925,588

DESOLVED	CLAIMS
RESOLVED	CLAIMS

¹¹ As set out herein, Pharmacist Representative Counsel has filed the Omnibus Pharmacist NOD in respect of all pharmacists, however as part of the claims review process, the Monitor allowed the claims of two pharmacists as filed and therefore did not issue an NRDA with respect to such claims and 11 pharmacist claims have been resolved through the opt-out process. The Opt-Out Notice deadline was March 25, 2016 (one Opt-Out Notice that was accepted was received that day past the 5 p.m. deadline).

UNRESOLVED CLAIMS

	Fi	led Amount	Monit	tor Review		NRDA St	age		Ň	OD Stage		
				Filed		Filed	Allowed		Filed	Allowed	NOD	
Category	#	\$	#	\$	#	\$	\$	#	\$	\$	\$	
Landlord (a)(b)	19	110,596,860	-	-	-	-	-	19	110,596,860	2,916	110,596,859	
Vendor	38	268,476,197	5	437,062	-	-	-	33	268,039,136	165,343,920	240,012,950	
Pharmacist	81	144,630,242	-	-	-	-	-	81	144,630,242	16,746,129	144,152,367	
Government	9	2,863,376	-	-	-	-	-	9	2,863,376	184,897	2,858,994	(c)
Litigation	7	2,737,002	1	500,000	-	-	-	6	2,237,002	15,760	668,179	
Employee	11	211,773	-	-	-	-	-	11	211,773	-	206,007	
Other	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Total	165	529,515,450	6	937,062	-	-	-	159	528,578,389	182,293,622	498,495,356	(c)
Grand Total	1745	2.640.796.253						•				

Notes:

(a) The Allowed amounts of Landlord Claims in the Resolved Claims table reflect the Claim amounts under the settlement agreements reached with Landlords.
(b) Two Landlord Claims, in respect of nine properties, have both an Allowed amount on account of seven disclaimed properties and a NOD amount on account of two assigned leases. Such Claims are considered to be in the NOD stage, however, for reporting purposes, the respective Claim Filed and Allowed amounts are reflected in the Resolved Claims table to provide a more appropriate view of the claims profile. The Claim count has not been adjusted.
(c) Total NOD Amount is unknown as certain CRA Claims cannot yet be quantified as information is still pending at this time.

- 5.10 In addition to the Claims set out above, 26 Claims totalling approximately \$8.3 million were filed and subsequently withdrawn by the Claimants.
- 5.11 Pursuant to paragraphs 23 and 27 of the Claims Procedure Order, Claims not filed and received by the Monitor by the respective Claims Bar Dates, or such later date as the Monitor may agree in writing or the Court may otherwise direct, will be forever barred, estopped and extinguished. The Monitor has received a number of late-filed claims totalling approximately \$15.6 million, including three claims totalling \$8.0 million from Pharmacist Franchisees and one claim of \$1.9 million from a landlord with a Parent Guarantee. Following inquiries of the Claimants as to why the claims were filed late, and after satisfying itself that there was: (i) a *prima facie* basis for such claims; and (ii) a valid reason for late filing, the Monitor admitted these claims into the Claims Process for review and assessment.

Unresolved Claims

- 5.12 The Monitor is in the process of assessing and resolving Notices of Dispute that have been filed with the Monitor. As at the date of this Twenty-Fifth Report, 159 NODs have been received from Claimants, disputing a total of approximately \$498.5 million (plus "marker claims" that have been filed for unliquidated or unknown amounts, such as certain Claims filed by the CRA), as compared to the total amount of \$182.3 million allowed by the Monitor in the corresponding NRDAs. The significant NODs relate to:
 - (i) Government Claims: Information with respect to Government Claims was provided in the Twenty-Fourth Report. The Target Canada Entities and their legal counsel and the Monitor and its legal counsel, and representatives of the CRA and the Department of Justice Canada on behalf of the CRA, continue to work diligently and cooperatively (both with each other and with TCC's affiliates as part of the Shared Services) to obtain and provide the CRA with information to satisfy outstanding information requests. This process remains ongoing;
 - (ii) Pharmacist Claims: As described in the Twenty-Fifth Report, Pharmacist Franchisees filed 93 individual Proofs of Claim (including three claims filed subsequent to the Claims Bar Date),¹² and the Monitor issued individual NRDAs in respect of 91 of such Pharmacist Franchisee Claims.¹³ Pharmacist Representative Counsel filed an Omnibus Pharmacist NOD in response to the

¹² The Monitor also received a Proof of Claim filed by McMahon Distributeur Pharmaceutique Inc., the owner/operator of 14 Target/Brunet co-branded pharmacies in the province of Quebec, which is not represented by Pharmacist Representative Counsel, and is not reflected in the Omnibus Pharmacist NOD.

¹³ As indicated above, two of the Pharmacist Franchisee Claims were allowed as filed and no NRDAs were issued for these claims.

individual NRDAs issued that, by its terms and the terms of the Pharmacist Order, applies to all Pharmacist Franchisee Claims, other than those that were accepted as filed or where an Opt-Out Notice has been filed. As described above, the Monitor received a total of 11 Opt-Out Notices (by those Pharmacist Franchisees who do not wish to be represented by the Pharmacist Representative Counsel). The difference between the aggregate allowed amounts in the NRDAs issued by the Monitor and the disputed amount in the Omnibus Pharmacist NOD is approximately \$125.9 million.

As described in the Twenty-Fifth Report, pursuant to the Pharmacist Order, the Omnibus Pharmacist NOD was referred to the Honourable Dennis O'Connor (the "**Claims Officer**") to determine the validity and amount of the Pharmacist Franchisee Claims under the Claims Procedure Order, as amended, with direction to implement a summary process for the resolution of each disputed claim. Pharmacist Representative Counsel and the Monitor, in consultation with the Target Canada Entities, have been working on a list of common issues. On March 31, 2016, the Monitor reported to the Claims Officer that proposed common issues lists had been exchanged and that the parties continue to work to advance the common issues list and to discuss procedure.

(iii) Vendor Claims: 33 Claimants have submitted NODs that remain unresolved, with a difference in aggregate claims value between the Monitor and the Claimants of approximately \$74.7 million. Seven significant Claims account for approximately \$68.9 million or 92% of the aggregate difference. The Monitor is reviewing the NODs that have been received, and is assessing its options to resolve these

Claims, including through further discussions or reconciliation with the claimants or referring Claims to a Claims Officer or the Court for adjudication where appropriate; and

- (iv) Landlord Claims: As described above, the Monitor received 18 NODs with respect to assigned leases prior to the February 29, 2016 deadline and one NOD filed by a third-party in respect of an indemnity TCC provided in relation to a disclaimed lease.
- 5.13 The Monitor, in consultation with the Target Canada Entities, is in the process of reviewing and assessing the NODs, including assessing whether any further Claims should be referred to a Claims Officer or the Court for adjudication, and will provide updates to the Court as the Claims Process continues to advance.

Director & Officer Claims

- 5.14 A summary of the D&O Claims received by the Monitor is provided below:
 - (i) eleven D&O Claims were filed totalling approximately \$567,000;
 - (ii) nine of the eleven D&O Claims were filed as "marker claims" for unspecified, unliquidated amounts; and
 - (iii) of the eleven D&O Claims filed, six were subsequently withdrawn by the Claimants.

- 5.15 The Monitor, in consultation with the Target Canada Entities and legal counsel to the Directors and Officers, reviewed the remaining five filed D&O Claims and issued NRDAs to each of the Claimants disallowing the claims in full.
- 5.16 With respect to the five Claims disallowed in full: (i) two claimants did not respond to the NRDA and the claims have been deemed disallowed pursuant to the Claims Procedure Order; (ii) one claimant responded with an NOD, but has subsequently withdrawn their claim; (iii) one claimant responded with an NOD in the amount of approximately \$180,000; and (iv) one claimant responded with an NOD filed as a "marker claim" for unspecified, unliquidated amounts.
- 5.17 The Monitor, in consultation with the Target Canada Entities and legal counsel to the Directors and Officers, continues to review and assess the two disputed D&O Claims and will provide updates to the Court as the Claims Process continues to advance.

6.0 ILLUSTRATIVE RANGE OF ESTIMATED CREDITOR RECOVERIES

6.1 The Monitor has prepared an updated illustrative range of estimated recoveries under the Amended Plan which is summarized in the table below and is based on information available as at April 1, 2016 (the "**Illustrative Recoveries Analysis**"). The Illustrative Recoveries Analysis has been prepared based on the terms of the Amended Plan and a further preliminary estimate of the assessment of Claims filed. The Monitor cautions that the Illustrative Recoveries Analysis remains preliminary at this stage and is expected to change (which change could be material) as: (a) filed Claims continue to be reviewed and assessed, including "marker claims" that have been filed for unliquidated or unknown amounts (such as certain Claims filed by the CRA); and (b) the Claims Process continues

to advance, including the resolution of Disputed Claims, in accordance with Claims

Procedure Order.

		Illustrative Scenario #1 -	Illustrative Scenario #2 -
		LOW	HIGH
(\$ in 000's CAD)			
PROPCO			
CASH AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION			
Propco Cash		\$ 76,750	\$ 76,750
PROCEEDS AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION		76,750	76,750
CLAIMS FILED AGAINST PROPCO/PROPERTY LP			
Total Third Party Claims Against Propco and Property LP		10,535	10,535
PropCo Intercompany Claims (recontributed below)		34,081	34,081
Estimated Payments under Plan Sponsor Propco Recovery Reserve Limit		15,983	18,240
ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AVAILABLE FOR TCC AFTER DISTRIBUTIONS		16,151	13,894
TARGET CANADA CO			
CASH AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION			
Target Canada Co. Cash		780,000	785,000
Propco Cash (from above)		16,151	13,894
ESTIMATED PROCEEDS AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION		796,151	798,894
ESTIMATED SECURED, UNAFFECTED AND CONVENIENCE CLASS CREDITORS			
Secured Claims and Unaffected Creditor Claims		60,031	60,031
Convenience Class Claims - < \$25,000		5,745	5,745
Convenience Class Opt-In - Claim Value < \$35,000 TOTAL ESTIMATED SECURED, UNAFFECTED AND CONVENIENCE CLASS CREDITOR CLAIMS		2,150 67,926	2,150
ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION AFTER SECURED, UNAFFECTED AND		728,226	730,969
CONVENIENCE CLASS CLAIMS			
LANDLORD GUARANTEE CREDITOR SETTLEMENT AMOUNTS			
Landlord Guarantee Creditor Base Claim Amounts (Pre-filing and Restructuring)		140,745	140,745
Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Amounts		59,532	59,532
Total Distribution to Landlord Guarantee Creditors Less:		200,276	200,276
Plan Sponsor Contribution to the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Cash Pool		(25,451)	(25,451
Plan Sponsor Contribution from the PropCo Intercompany Claims (from above)		(34,081)	(34,081
NET DISTRIBUTION TO LANDLORD GUARANTEE CREDITORS AFTER PLAN SPONSOR CONTRIBUTIONS		140,745	140,745
ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION AFTER SECURED, UNAFFECTED, CONVENIENCE CLASS AND LANDLORD GUARANTEE CREDITOR CLAIMS	(A)	587,481	590,224
ESTIMATED ALLOWABLE CLAIMS			
Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Claim Amounts (Pre-Filing, Restructuring and Other)		186,974	186,974
Other Affected Creditor Claims		566,149	462,631
Total Affected Creditor Claims		753,123	649,605
Total Intercompany Claims		108,464	108,464
ESTIMATED ALLOWABLE TOTAL CLAIMS EXCLUDING SECURED, UNAFFECTED, CONVENIENCE CLASS AND			
LANDLORD GUARANTEE CREDITOR CLAIMS	(B)	861,587	758,069
RECOVERY % (A/B)		68.2%	77.99

6.2 Based on the above Illustrative Recoveries Analysis (and subject to the important qualifications noted in paragraph 6.1 above), the Monitor estimates that the Affected Creditors with Proven Claims will receive distributions under the Amended Plan in the range of approximately 68% to 78% of such Affected Creditors' Proven Claims. This

represents an estimated reduction of approximately 7% from the Original Plan due primarily to the enhanced recoveries to the Landlord Guarantee Creditors (including the re-direction of the \$34.1 million referred to above to the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Cash Pool) required in order to reach a consensual resolution with the Landlords and comply with the January 15 Endorsement and paragraph 19A of the Initial Order.

7.0 MEETING ORDER

- 7.1 The Target Canada Entities, in consultation with the Monitor, have prepared a proposed procedure for a meeting of creditors, and are seeking the Court's approval of this procedure, together with certain related relief, in the form of an Order contained in the Target Canada Entities' motion record returnable on April 13, 2016 (the "**Meeting Order**"). Capitalized terms used but not defined in this section of this Twenty-Sixth Report have the meanings ascribed to them in the Meeting Order.
- 7.2 The Meeting Order contemplates a meeting of a single class of Affected Creditors, the Unsecured Creditors' Class, to consider and vote on the Amended Plan (the "Creditors' Meeting"). Subject to the Meeting Order being approved, the Creditors' Meeting will be held on May 25, 2016 at the Toronto Board of Trade, 77 Adelaide Street West, Toronto, Ontario, starting at 10:00 a.m., subject to adjournment or modification in accordance with the terms of the Meeting Order or further order of this Court. The Creditors' Meeting will be chaired by the Monitor or its representative.

Notice of Creditors' Meeting

- 7.3 The Monitor shall send the following materials (collectively, the "Meeting Materials") to each Affected Creditor to the address for such Affected Creditor set out in such Affected Creditor's Proof of Claim or to such other address subsequently provided to the Monitor by the Affected Creditor:
 - (i) the Notice of Creditors' Meeting, substantially in the form attached as Schedule"B" to the Meeting Order;
 - (ii) the form of Proxy for use at the Creditors' Meeting, substantially in the form attached as Schedule "C" to the Meeting Order;
 - (iii) the Convenience Class Claim Election, substantially in the form attached as Schedule "D" to the Meeting Order;
 - (iv) the Resolution to be voted on by Affected Creditors at the Creditors' Meeting,substantially in the form attached as Schedule "E" to the Meeting Order;
 - (v) a copy of the Amended Plan;
 - (vi) the Letter to Creditors, substantially in the form attached to the Wong Affidavit –
 Meeting Order; and
 - (vii) a copy of the Meeting Order.
- 7.4 The Monitor will post the Meeting Materials to the Monitor's website, and will serve a copy of the Meeting Materials on the Service List.

- 7.5 Additionally, on or before April 27, 2016, the Monitor will cause the Notice of Creditors' Meeting to be published for a period of two (2) business days in *The Globe and Mail* (National Edition), *La Presse* and *The Wall Street Journal*.
- 7.6 The Meeting Order further contemplates that the Monitor will serve a report with respect to the Amended Plan on the Service List by no later than May 11, 2016, which report will be filed with this Court and posted to the Monitor's website.

Amendments to the Plan

- 7.7 The Meeting Order provides that the Target Canada Entities, with the consent of the Plan Sponsor and the Monitor, may make and file modifications, restatements, amendments or supplements to the Plan (each, a "Plan Modification") prior to or at the Creditors' Meeting prior to a vote being taken. Any such Plan Modification shall be deemed to form part of and be incorporated into the Plan.
- 7.8 The Target Canada Entities may, with the consent of the Plan Sponsor and the Monitor, effect a Plan Modification after the Creditors' Meeting: (i) pursuant to an Order of the Court; or (ii) where such Plan Modification is of an administrative nature required to better give effect to the implementation of the Plan and the Sanction and Vesting Order or to cure any errors, omissions or ambiguities, and in either event is not materially adverse to the financial or economic interests of the Affected Creditors.
- 7.9 Where a Plan Modification is made prior to the Creditors' Meeting, the Target Canada Entities shall provide notice to the Service List. Where a Plan Modification is made prior to a vote at the Creditors' Meeting, the Target Canada Entities shall give notice to those

Affected Creditors present in person or by Proxy. The Monitor shall post notice of a Plan Modification to the Monitor's website forthwith in all cases.

Procedure for Creditors' Meeting

- 7.10 The Meeting Order provides that a representative of the Monitor, to be designated by the Monitor, will serve as the chair of the Creditors' Meeting and, subject to any further Order of the Court, will decide all matters relating to the conduct of the Creditors' Meeting. The Monitor may appoint scrutineers for the supervision and tabulation of attendance at, quorum at, and votes cast at the Creditors' Meeting, and a person designated by the Monitor will act as secretary at the Creditors' Meeting.
- 7.11 The only Persons entitled to attend and speak at the Creditors' Meeting are representatives of the Target Canada Entities and the Plan Sponsor and their respective legal counsel and advisors, the Monitor and its legal counsel and advisors, Pharmacists' Representative Counsel, Employee Representative Counsel, the Employee Trust Trustee and his legal counsel and all other Persons, including the holders of Proxies, entitled to vote at the Creditors' Meeting and their respective legal counsel and advisors. The Meeting Order also provides that the Chair may admit any other Person to the Creditors' Meeting by invitation.
- 7.12 The Chair is authorized to adjourn, postpone or otherwise reschedule the Creditors' Meeting from time to time as the Chair deems necessary or desirable. In the event of such adjournment, postponement, or rescheduling, none of the Chair, the Monitor, nor the Target Canada Entities will be required to deliver any notice of such adjournment of the Creditors' Meeting, provided that the Monitor will:

- (i) announce the adjournment of the Creditors' Meeting or adjourned Creditors' Meeting, as applicable;
- (ii) post notice of the adjournment at the originally designated time and location of the Creditors' Meeting;
- (iii) post notice of the adjournment on the Monitor's website; and
- (iv) provide notice of the adjournment forthwith to the Service List.
- 7.13 The quorum for the Creditors' Meeting will be one (1) Affected Creditor with a Voting Claim present at such meeting in person or by Proxy.

Voting at Creditors' Meeting

- 7.14 The Meeting Order provides that the Chair will direct a vote on the Resolution to approve the Plan, with any amendments or modifications thereto made in accordance with the Plan, the Meeting Order, and any further Order of the Court.
- 7.15 Convenience Class Creditors will be deemed to have voted in favour of the Plan.
- 7.16 Each Affected Creditor with a Voting Claim will be entitled to one vote equal to the dollar value of its Affected Claim determined as a Voting Claim in accordance with the Claims Procedure Order and the Meeting Order.

- 7.17 Where an Affected Creditor holds a Disputed Claim as of the Creditors' Meeting¹⁴, the dollar value of such Disputed Claim for voting purposes shall be the amount set out in respect of the Affected Creditor's Notice of Revision or Disallowance delivered by the Monitor in accordance with the Claims Procedure Order.
- 7.18 The Monitor and its designees appointed in accordance with the Meeting Order will keep separate records of votes cast by Affected Creditors holding Disputed Claims and will report to the Court with respect thereto.
- 7.19 Holders of Intercompany Claims will not be entitled to vote on the Plan. The Plan Sponsor will not be entitled to vote on the Plan in respect of: (i) its Plan Sponsor Subrogated Claims; (ii) any amounts to be contributed to the Landlord Guarantee Enhancement Cash Pool and to the Landlord Non-Guarantee Creditor Equalization Cash Pool under the Plan; or (iii) any Cash Management Lender Claims held through assignment or subrogation (the latter being Unaffected Claims which are not entitled to vote in any event).

Assignment of Claims

7.20 An Affected Creditor, a Propco Unaffected Creditor or a Property LP Unaffected Creditor may transfer or assign the whole of its claim prior to the Creditors' Meeting by providing notice of such transfer or assignment, together with satisfactory evidence of such transfer or assignment to the Monitor in writing, by no later than 5:00 p.m. on the date which is seven (7) days prior to the Creditors' Meeting. Where a Claim has been

¹⁴ In accordance with the Meeting Order, Canada Revenue Agency shall have one vote in respect of its Disputed Claims, the dollar value of which shall be equal to \$1, without prejudice to the determination of the dollar value of such Disputed Claims.

transferred or assigned in part, the transferor or assignor will retain the right to vote at the Creditors' Meeting in respect of the full amount of the Claim as determined for voting purposes in accordance with the Claims Procedure Order and the Meeting Order, and the transferee or assignee will have no voting rights at the Creditors' Meeting in respect of such claim.

7.21 An Affected Creditor (other than a Convenience Class Creditor), a Propco Unaffected Creditor or a Property LP Unaffected Creditor may transfer or assign the whole of its Claim after the Creditors' Meeting in the manner set out in the Meeting Order, as described above.

Voting by Proxy

- 7.22 Any Person entitled to vote at the Creditors' Meeting may do so in person or by proxy. The Meeting Order provides that the form of proxy for use at the Creditors' Meeting (including any adjourned, postponed or rescheduled Creditors' Meeting) is to be included with the Meeting Materials (the "**Proxy**") and sets out the timeline and procedure for submitting a proxy.
- 7.23 In the absence of specific instructions to vote for or against the approval of the Resolution in a duly signed and delivered Proxy, the Meeting Order provides that the Proxy shall be deemed to include the instruction to vote for the approval of the Resolution, provided that the Proxy-holder does not otherwise exercise its right to vote at the Creditors' Meeting.

8.0 CASH FLOW RESULTS RELATIVE TO FORECAST

8.1 Receipts and disbursements for the period March 6, 2016 to April 2, 2016 (the "**Reporting Period**", noting that cash flow results through March 5, 2016 were reported in the Twenty-Fifth Report) as compared to the cash flow forecast that was attached as Appendix "C" to the Twenty-Fourth Report (the "**Cash Flow Forecast**"), are summarized on the following page.

n

(\$ in 000's CAD, unless otherwise noted)

	Cumulative							
Period Ended		Budget 02-Apr		Actual 02-Apr		riance / (W)		
OPERATING RECEIPTS								
Sales Receipts	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-		
Other Receipts		120		348		228		
TOTAL RECEIPTS		120		348		228		
OPERATING DISBURSEMENTS								
Employee Payments		30		47		(17)		
Rent & Occupancy		-		22		(22)		
DC / Logistics		-		-		-		
Normal Course Taxes		-		-		-		
Professional Fees		1,850		1,592	1	258		
All Other		200		118		82		
Current Operating Disbursements		2,080		1,778		302		
OPERATING CASH FLOW		(1,960)		(1,430)		530		
INTERCOMPANY DISBURSEMENTS Intercompany Services DIP Interest		125		191		(66)		
Intercompany Disbursements		125		191		(66)		
NET CASH FLOW	\$	(2,085)	\$	(1,621)	\$	464		
WEEKLY LIQUIDITY								
Beginning Bank Cash Balance [1]	\$	798,451	\$	799,808	\$	1,357		
(+/-) Net Cash Flow		(2,085)		(1,621)		464		
(+/-) Change in Cheque Float		-		42		42		
(+/-) DIP Draws/(Repayments)		-		-		-		
(+/-) FX Translation				(32)		(32)		
Ending Bank Cash Balance [2]		796,366		798,197		1,831		

 Cash Balances were actualized in the Twenty-Fifth Report and the variance relative to the Cash Flow Forecast attached as Appendix "C" to the Twenty-Fourth Report was previously commented on
 Actuals assume \$1.30 CAD/ \$1.00 USD

8.2 During the Reporting Period, the Target Canada Entities' total receipts were approximately \$228,000 greater than as projected in the Cash Flow Forecast. The variance was due primarily to interest received that was not reflected in the Cash Flow Forecast.

- 8.3 The Target Canada Entities' total disbursements during the Reporting Period were approximately \$236,000 less than as projected in the Cash Flow Forecast. Management attributes most of this variance to timing differences in the payment of professional fees.
- 8.4 The closing cash balance as at April 2, 2016 was approximately \$798.2 million, as compared to the projected cash balance of \$796.4 million.
- 8.5 The Initial Order entitles the Target Canada Entities to continue to utilize their existing Cash Management System, as described in the Pre-Filing report. The Cash Management System of the Target Canada Entities continues to operate in the same manner as it had prior to the commencement of the CCAA Proceedings, with the exception that all 133 retail Stores were closed to the public on or before April 12, 2015.

9.0 CCAA CASH FLOW FORECAST

- 9.1 With the assistance of the Monitor, the Applicants have prepared an updated and extended cash flow forecast (the "Cash Flow Forecast") for the period April 3, 2016 to June 11, 2016 (the "Cash Flow Period"). As described below, the Stay Period is set to expire on April 15, 2016. The Applicants are seeking an extension of the Stay Period to June 6, 2016 and the Cash Flow Period covers the date of the extension request. A copy of the Cash Flow Forecast is attached as Appendix "B" to this Twenty-Sixth Report.
- 9.2 The Cash Flow Forecast is presented on a weekly basis during the Cash Flow Period and represents TCC management's estimates of projected cash flow during the Cash Flow Period. The Cash Flow Forecast has been prepared using the probable and hypothetical

assumptions set out in the notes to the Cash Flow Forecast (the "Cash Flow Assumptions").

- 9.3 The Monitor has reviewed the Cash Flow Forecast to the standard required of a Courtappointed Monitor by section 23(1)(b) of the CCAA. Section 23(1) requires a Monitor to review the debtor's cash flow statement as to its reasonableness and to file a report with the Court on the Monitor's findings. Pursuant to this standard, the Monitor's review of the Cash Flow Forecast consisted of inquiries, analytical procedures and discussions related to information supplied to it by certain key members of management and employees of TCC and Target Corporation. The Monitor reviewed information provided by management for the Cash Flow Assumptions. Since the Cash Flow Assumptions need not be supported, the Monitor's procedures with respect to them were limited to evaluating whether they were consistent with the purpose of the Cash Flow Forecast.
- 9.4 The Cash Flow Forecast has been updated for actual cash flow results through the week ended April 2, 2016. The opening cash position as at April 3, 2016 was approximately \$798.2 million. Forecast receipts for the Cash Flow Period are approximately \$660,000 and forecast disbursements are approximately \$5.7 million (including approximately \$610,000 for Shared Services).
- 9.5 The Cash Flow Forecast includes disbursements of \$270,000 and \$190,000 in April (for February and March), and \$150,000 in May (for April) for Shared Services incurred in connection with the Orderly Wind-down and Claims Process (i.e. primarily accounting, treasury and information technology services). The projected Shared Services disbursements are based on a new agreement entered into following the expiration of the

Shared Services Agreement in January 2016 (which provides for payments based on hourly rates), and TCC continues to work with the Monitor and Target Corporation to reduce these services, where appropriate, as the Orderly Wind-down and Claims Process continue toward completion.

- 9.6 The closing cash position in the Cash Flow Forecast for the week ending June 11, 2016 is projected to be approximately \$793.1 million.
- 9.7 The Cash Flow Forecast has been prepared solely for the purposes described above, and readers are cautioned that it may not be appropriate for other purposes.

10.0 EXTENSION OF THE STAY PERIOD

- 10.1 Pursuant to the Order (Extending the Stay Period) of this Court dated March 14, 2016 (the "March 14 Order"), the Stay Period is set to expire on April 15, 2016. The Applicants are seeking an extension of the Stay Period to June 6, 2016.
- 10.2 The Monitor supports the Applicants' motion to extend the Stay Period to June 6, 2016 for the following reasons:
 - subject to this Court granting the Meeting Order, the extension will facilitate the holding of the Creditors' Meeting on May 25, 2016;
 - (ii) subject to the Plan being approved by the Required Majority, the extension will facilitate the Target Canada Entities' bringing the Sanction Motion before this Court on June 2, 2016;

- (iii) the extension will provide the Monitor with the time required to continue to advance the Claims Process in accordance with the Claims Procedure Order;
- (iv) the Applicants have sufficient liquidity throughout the Cash Flow Period to accommodate the above dates; and
- (v) the Applicants continue to act in good faith and with due diligence and have made significant progress in these CCAA Proceedings in developing the Amended Plan to present to their creditors.

11.0 MONITOR'S CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION

- 11.1 For the reasons set out herein, the Monitor recommends that this Court grant the Meeting Order:
 - (i) accepting the filing of the Amended Plan;
 - (ii) authorizing the Target Canada Entities to establish one class of Affected Creditors for the purpose of considering and voting on the Plan;
 - (iii) authorizing the Target Canada Entities to call, hold and conduct the Creditors' Meeting on May 25, 2016 to consider and vote on a resolution to approve the Plan, and approving the procedures to be followed with respect to the Creditors' Meeting;
 - (iv) setting the date of June 2, 2016 for the hearing of the Target Canada Entities' motion seeking sanction of the Amended Plan should the Plan be approved by the Required Majority;

- (v) extending the Stay Period to June 6, 2016; and
- (vi) extending the Notice of Objection Bar Date to 28 days following June 6, 2016 or such later date as this Court may Order.

All of which is respectfully submitted to this Court this 7th day of April, 2016.

Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc., in its capacity as Monitor of Target Canada Co., and the other Applicants listed on Appendix "A"

Per:

Name: Douglas R. McIntosh Title: President

Per:

Name: Alan J. Hutchens Title: Senior Vice-President

abutchen

APPENDIX "A"

Applicants

Target Canada Co.

Target Canada Health Co.

Target Canada Mobile GP Co.

Target Canada Pharmacy (BC) Corp.

Target Canada Pharmacy (Ontario) Corp.

Target Canada Pharmacy (SK) Corp.

Target Canada Pharmacy Corp.

Target Canada Property LLC

Partnerships

Target Canada Pharmacy Franchising LP

Target Canada Mobile LP

Target Canada Property LP

APPENDIX "B"

(SEE ATTACHED)

In the Matter of the CCAA Proceedings of Target Canada Co. ("TCC") and the Other Applicants and Partnerships Identified in the Initial Order (collectively, the "Target Canada Entities") Notes to the Target Canada Entities' Unaudited 10-Week Cash Flow Forecast

Disclaimer:

In preparing this cash flow forecast (the "Forecast"), TCC has relied upon unaudited financial information and TCC has not attempted to further verify the accuracy or completeness of such information. The Forecast includes estimates concerning the orderly wind-down of the Target Canada Entities' businesses and additional assumptions discussed below with respect to the requirements and impact of a filing under the *Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act* ("CCAA"). Since the Forecast is based on assumptions about future events and conditions that are not ascertainable, the actual results achieved during the Forecast period will vary from the Forecast, even if the assumptions materialize, and such variations may be material. There is no representation, warranty of other assurance that any of the estimates, forecasts or projections will be realized.

Overview:

The Forecast reflects opening cash from the orderly wind-down of the Target Canada Entities' operations. TCC, with the assistance of the Monitor, has prepared the Forecast based primarily on TCC's go-forward expectations. The Forecast does not include Target Canada Property LLC ("**TCC Propco**"), as no material cash flow activity is anticipated for that entity during the Forecast Period. TCC Propco's cash balance as at April 3, 2016 was approximately \$77.0 million. The Forecast is presented in thousands of Canadian dollars.

Assumptions:

- **1. Beginning Balance** This is the actual opening cash balance as at April 3, 2016.
- 2. Operating Receipts

Forecast receipts include interest on funds on deposit.

3. Employee Payments

These disbursements include payroll, payroll taxes and employee benefits costs and are forecast based on projected requirements.

4. Professional Fees

These disbursements include payments to TCC's legal counsel, the Monitor and its counsel, counsel to the Directors, members of the Consultative Committee of Creditors, and other consultants and advisors as required.

5. All Other

These disbursements include post-filing amounts anticipated to arise during claims reconciliations through the claims process and projected noticing/publishing expenses.

6. Intercompany

These disbursements represent projected payments related to Shared Services provided by Target Corporation.

	Wk-64 02-Apr	Wk-65 09-Anr	Wk-66 16-Anr	Wk-67 23-Anr	Wk-68 30-Anr	Wk-69 07-May	Wk-70	Wk-71	78-May	Wk-73	Wk-74 11_1un	Forecast
RECEIPTS	Actual		idea ar			fam 12	fam te	fam 12	68141-07	Incho	INCTT	
Sales Receipts	¢	ĩ				,	•		1	ä	ı	\$
Other Receipts	255	ß	Θ	90	30	210	30	30	30	210	30	660
TOTAL RECEIPTS	255	30	30	30	30	210	30	30	30	210	30	660
DISBURSEMENTS												
Employee Payments	1	15	ŝ	15	992	15	9 <u>9</u>	15	jî,	15	£7	75
Kent & Occupancy DC / Logistics	8.8	ai 6	n 2	A 3	ak o	i i		0 2	8.3	a i	æ 2	
Normal Course Taxes			, ,		ì				,			
Professional Faes	1 280	4C 14	- 9))))	- 0ED	P	750	e	- 050	•	- 0EO	
All Other	CD7'T	' US	020	' U	002	175	361	' U		' U	005	4,25U
Current Operating Disbursements	1 301	2	002	R L	1 1 1 40	UV.	875	8 8		8 8		2000
	13 0461	(36)	107.21	1361	101441	F	10401	110			1000	
	(ato'T)	(cc)	(1)(0)	(cc)	(611,1)	2	(040)	(cc)	(0/6)	145	(0/6)	(4,465)
INTERCOMPANY DISBURSEMENTS												
Intercompany Services	8	30	270	12	190	(ē	10	(*	150	a	825	610
	•	•7	*	<u>.</u>	×.	Ň	P	•	8	÷	•	
Intercompany Disbursements	8	¥3.	270	8	190	λ.	ŗ	*0	150	×		610
NET CASH FLOW	\$ (1,046)	\$ (35) \$	(940) \$	(35)	\$ (1,309)	\$ 70	\$ (845)	\$ (35)	\$ (1,120)	\$ 145	\$ (970)	\$ (5,075)
WEEKLY LIQUIDITY Beginning Bank Cash Balance Weekly Cash Flow	\$ 799,265 (1,046)	\$ 798,197 \$ (35)	798,162 \$ (940)	797,222 (35)	\$ 797,187 (1,309)	\$ 795,877 70	\$ 795,947 (845)	\$ 795,102 (35)	\$ 795,067 (1,120)	\$ 793,947 145	\$ 794,092 (970)	\$ 798,197 (5,075)
Dir Funding Total	798.220	798.162	797.222	797.187	795.877	795.947	795.102	795.067	793.947	790.092	793.122	793 177
EX Translation	(32)	ì	į	9	,	i						
t		6 3 .	8		e 94		- 54	e 19	•	6 39	Ó	
	+	\$ 798,162 \$	797,222 \$	797,187	\$ 795,877	\$ 795,947	\$ 795,102	\$ 795,067	\$ 793,947	\$ 794,092	\$ 793,122	\$ 793,122

IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF TARGET CANADA CO., TARGET CANADA HEALTH CO., TARGET CANADA MOBILE GP CO., TARGET CANADA PHARMACY (BC) CORP., TARGET CANADA PHARMACY (ONTARIO) CORP., TARGET CANADA PHARMACY CORP., TARGET CANADA PHARMACY (SK) CORP., AND TARGET CANADA PROPERTY LLC

Court File No.: CV-15-10832-00CL

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE COMMERCIAL LIST

Proceeding commenced at Toronto

TWENTY-SIXTH REPORT OF THE MONITOR

GOODMANS LLP

Barristers & Solicitors Bay Adelaide Centre 333 Bay Street, Suite 3400 Toronto, Canada M5H 2S7

Alan Mark LSUC#: 21772U amark@goodmans.ca

Jay Carfagnini LSUC#: 22293T jcarfagnini@goodmans.ca

Melaney Wagner LSUC#: 44063B mwagner@goodmans.ca

Jesse Mighton LSUC#: 62291J jmighton@goodmans.ca

Tel: 416.979.2211 Fax: 416.979.1234

Lawyers for the Monitor

APPENDIX "C"

LETTER FROM THE CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE

April 22, 2016

TO: Creditors of Target Canada Co. and the other Target Canada Entities

Dear Sirs/Mesdames:

RE: Consultative Committee Support of Target Canada's Amended and Restated Plan of Compromise and Arrangement (the "Amended Plan")

We are the members of the Court-appointed Consultative Committee in these CCAA proceedings. The members of the Consultative Committee were selected by the Monitor at the direction of the Court because we represent a cross-section of Target Canada's stakeholders including trade creditors, landlords and service providers. We operate under a protocol approved by the Court.

<u>The Consultative Committee unanimously supports the approval of the Amended</u> <u>Plan.</u>

The Consultative Committee has played an active role in these proceedings. We have met on numerous occasions with the Monitor and Target Canada. We have provided input on the Amended Plan and advocated for a consensual resolution that would maximize recovery for Target Canada's creditors. We have appeared in Court to ensure that the interests of our clients were properly considered.

With the benefit of this insight, the Consultative Committee is of the view that the Amended Plan represents the best alternative for creditors in light of all relevant circumstances. It is clear to the Consultative Committee that Target Canada, with the assistance of the Monitor, has achieved a consensual resolution to the various claims asserted in the CCAA proceedings that will result in significant recoveries for all affected creditors in a timely manner. We are recommending that creditors vote in favour of the Amended Plan at the creditors' meeting.

Yours very truly,

The Consultative Committee per:

"Linc Rogers"	"Jeffrey Carhart"	"Dan Murdoch"
Blakes, Cassels & Graydon LLP	Miller Thomson LLP	Stikeman Elliott LLP
"Linda Galessiere"	"Lou Brzezinski"	"Catherine Francis"
McLean & Kerr LLP	Blaney McMurtry LLP	Minden Gross LLP

IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF TARGET CANADA CO., TARGET CANADA HEALTH CO., TARGET CANADA MOBILE GP CO., TARGET CANADA PHARMACY (BC) CORP., TARGET CANADA PHARMACY (ONTARIO) CORP., TARGET CANADA PHARMACY CORP., TARGET CANADA PHARMACY (SK) CORP., AND TARGET CANADA PROPERTY LLC

Court File No.: CV-15-10832-00CL

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE COMMERCIAL LIST

Proceeding commenced at Toronto

TWENTY-SEVENTH REPORT OF THE MONITOR

GOODMANS LLP

Barristers & Solicitors Bay Adelaide Centre 333 Bay Street, Suite 3400 Toronto, Canada M5H 2S7

Alan Mark LSUC#: 21772U amark@goodmans.ca

Jay Carfagnini LSUC#: 22293T jcarfagnini@goodmans.ca

Melaney Wagner LSUC#: 44063B mwagner@goodmans.ca

Jesse Mighton LSUC#: 62291J jmighton@goodmans.ca

Tel: 416.979.2211 Fax: 416.979.1234

Lawyers for the Monitor